
*****Refer to the 2nd page of the Agenda for meeting access information******

Call to Order – J.D. Ball, Ph.D, Committee Chair

- Welcome and Introductions/Roll Call
- Mission of the Board Page 3

Approval of Minutes

- Regulatory Committee Meeting – July 13, 2019* Page 4
- Regulatory Advisory Panel Minutes -- September 10, 2020* Page 8
- Regulatory Advisory Panel Minutes -- October 1, 2020* Page 10

Ordering of Agenda

Public Comment

The Board will receive public comment related to agenda items at this time. The Board will not receive comment on any pending regulation process for which a public comment period has closed or any pending or closed complaint or disciplinary matter.

Chair Report – Dr. Ball

Unfinished Business

- Guidance Document for Closure of a Practice – Dr. Ball Page 12
 - Closure of a Practice Page 14
 - Health Records Privacy Page 15
 - Records Retention Page 32
 - Guidance Document on Telepsychology and Social Media – Dr. Ball Page 34
 - Update on Regulatory Advisory Panel for Regulations Governing the Certification of Sex Offender Treatment Providers – Jaime Hoyle, Executive Director, Boards of Counseling, Psychology, and Social Work
 - Update on Legislative and Regulatory Matters – Elaine Yeatts, Department of Health Professions, Sr. Policy Analyst/Regulatory Compliance Manager
 - Legislation on Criminal Backgrounds as required by PSYPACT
 - Status of Periodic Review
 - Update on status of work delegated to staff from the July 13th meeting - Charlotte Lenart, Deputy Executive Director, Boards of Counseling, Psychology, and Social Work
-

-
-
- Staff clarify in the FAQs that the real-time interactive could include Zoom, WebEx or any other video conferencing platform that allowed for real-time interactive training
 - Updating inactive residents on license look-up
-
-

New Business

- Discussion of endorsement applications for Clinical Psychologists who have an educational background in school psychology --- Dr. Susan Wallace
 - Current Regulations
 - Final Regulations

Page 41
Page 51

Next Meeting – February 8, 2021

*Requires a Committee Vote

This information is in **DRAFT** form and is subject to change. The official agenda and packet will be approved by the public body at the meeting and will be available to the public pursuant to Virginia Code Section 2.2-3708(D).

Virginia Board of Psychology

Instructions for Accessing October 26, 2020 Virtual Regulatory Meeting and Providing Public Comment

- **Access:** Perimeter Center building access is closed to the public due to the COVID-19 pandemic. To observe this virtual meeting, use one of the options below. Participation capacity is limited and is on a first come, first serve basis due to the capacity of CISCO WebEx technology.
- **Public comment:** Comments will be received during the public comment period from those persons who have submitted an email to jaime.hoyle@dhp.virginia.gov **no later than 9 a.m. October 26, 2020** indicating that they wish to offer comment. Comment may be offered by these individuals when their names are announced by the Chair. Comments must be restricted to 3-5 minutes each.
- Public participation connections will be muted following the public comment periods.
- Please call from a location without background noise and ensure your line is muted.
- Dial (804) 938-6243 to report an interruption during the broadcast.
- FOIA Council *Electronic Meetings Public Comment* form for submitting feedback on this electronic meeting may be accessed at <http://foiacouncil.dls.virginia.gov/sample%20letters/welcome.htm>

JOIN BY AUDIO ONLY

1-408-418-9388

Meeting number (access code): 132 207 1854

Meeting password: 8WUxFyW46Vp (89893994 from phones and video systems)

JOIN THE INTERACTIVE MEETING

<https://virginia-dhp.my.webex.com/virginia-dhp.my/j.php?MTID%3Dm60135272b93804015171eaa7e1be740f>



Virginia Department of
Health Professions
Board of Psychology

MISSION STATEMENT

Our mission is to ensure safe and competent patient care by licensing health professionals, enforcing standards of practice, and providing information to health care practitioners and the public.

**VIRGINIA BOARD OF PSYCHOLOGY
REGULATORY COMMITTEE
DRAFT
MEETING MINUTES
July 13, 2020**

- TIME AND PLACE:** Consistent with Amendment 28 to HB29 (the Budget Bill for 2018-2020) and the applicable provisions of § 2.2-3708.2 in the Freedom of Information Act, the Committee convened the meeting virtually to consider such regulatory and business matters as are presented on the agenda necessary for the committee to discharge its lawful purposes, duties, and responsibilities.
- PRESIDING OFFICER:** John D. Ball., Ph.D., ABPP, Regulatory Committee Chair
- MEMBERS PRESENT:** Christine Payne, MBA
Herbert Stewart, Ph.D., ABPP
James Werth, Ph.D., ABPP, Board Chair
- STAFF PRESENT:** Debbie Harris, Licensing Manager
Jaime Hoyle, JD, Executive Director
Jennifer Lang, Deputy Executive Director
Charlotte Lenart, Deputy Executive Director of Licensing
Jared McDonough, Administrative Assistant
Sharniece Vaughan, Licensing Specialist
Elaine Yeatts, DHP Senior Policy Analyst
- CALL TO ORDER:** Dr. Ball, Chair, called the virtual WebEx meeting to order at 10:00 a.m.

Board members, staff, and members of the public introduced themselves.
- APPROVAL OF MINUTES:** Dr. Stewart made a motion, which Ms. Payne properly seconded, to approve the February 10, 2020 Regulatory Committee Meeting minutes. The motion carried unanimously.
- AGENDA:** Dr. Stewart moved, and Ms. Payne seconded, to accept the Agenda as written. Motion carried.
- PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD:** There was no public comment.
- CHAIR REPORT:** No report.
- UNFINISHED BUSINESS:** **Reviewing Association of State Provincial Psychology Boards (ASPPB) provisions for closing a practice- Dr. Ball**
The Committee discussed the proposed draft guidance document on guidelines for closing a psychological practice. The Committee agreed that

it would be a helpful resource for licensees. The information should be used for guidance and should not be included in the Regulations. Ms. Yeatts reminded the Committee that section 54.1-2405 of the Code of Virginia states requirements for the transfer of patient records in conjunction with the closure, sale or relocation of practice; notice required. Dr. Werth moved to recommend to the full Board that this guidance document be considered in principle after the addition of any statutory laws and a link to the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Board (ASPPB) Guidelines for Closing a Psychology Practice dated April 2020. The motion passed. Staff will research the laws and amend the documentation to be reviewed at the next meeting.

Surveying Directors of Training about Examination for the Professional Practice of Psychology (EPPP) – Part 2- Dr. Ball

After a lengthy discussion, the Committee agreed to proceed with caution. Dr. Ball will continue to develop a list of stakeholder's names so that this subject can be discussed in the future. Dr. Werth indicated that the early adopter period ends on December 31, 2021 and it would be wise to wait until we have more information from the early adopter states before making a final decision.

Consideration of any waiver of experience requirements to spouse of active duty military- Elaine Yeatts

The Committee discussed the requirements for endorsement and the possibility of waiving the experience requirement in 18VAC125-20-42(6)(E)(1) that requires documentation of post-licensure active practice for at least 24 of the last sixty months immediately preceding licensure application for spouses of active military or spouses of veterans who left active-duty within the last year and who accompanies the applicant's spouse to the Commonwealth or an adjoining state or the District of Columbia. Dr. Ball moved to recommend to the full Board to authorize the Executive Director, in consultation with the Board Chair, to accept requests for a waiver of the experience requirements outlined in 18VAC125-20-42(6)(E)(1) for military spouses. Ms. Payne seconded the motion and the motion passed.

Update on Regulatory Advisory Panel (RAP) for Periodic Review of Regulations Governing Certified Sex Offender Treatment Providers- Jaime Hoyle

Ms. Hoyle stated she is scheduling an upcoming virtual Regulatory Advisory Panel (RAP) meeting in August or September. Since there are no members of the Board that hold a Certified Sex Offender Treatment Provider (CSOTP) she reached out to Board members from other Behavioral Science Boards to ask if they would participate in the RAP. She has recruited Maria Stransky, LPC, CSAC, CSOTP and Dr. Terry Tinsley, LPC, LMFT, CSOTP from the Board of Counseling and will reach out to Dr. David Boehm, LCSW of Virginia Sex Offender Treatment Association (VSOTA)

for his expertise in the meeting. Ms. Hoyle also asked for at least two volunteers from the Board to participate. Dr. Ball and Dr. Werth agreed to participate in the meeting.

NEW BUSINESS:

Consideration of Emergency Regulations for Implementation of Psychology Interjurisdictional Compact (PSYPACT)-Elaine Yeatts

Ms. Yeatts stated that the PSYPACT is scheduled to be effective January 1, 2021 and will require regulatory changes. The PSYPACT will need to adopt a Commissioner who represents the Virginia Board of Psychology. Dr. Ball motioned to recommend to the full Board to adopt the Emergency Regulations as presented with a minor change. Dr. Stewart seconded and the motion passed.

Discussion of 2021 General Assembly Legislation to require criminal background checks pursuant to PSYPACT- Elaine Yeatts

Ms. Yeatts stated that Section § 54.1-3606.2 of the Code of Virginia outlines the requirements for the PSYPACT. Article III. Home State Licensure(F)(4) *Requires an Identity History Summary of all applicants at initial licensure, including the use of the results of fingerprints or other biometric data checks compliant with the requirements of the FBI, or other designee with similar authority, no later than 10 years after activation of the Compact.* Ms. Yeatts recommended the Board use similar language as implemented for the Physical Therapy and Nursing compacts. Dr. Ball motioned to recommend to the full Board to request the Agency include in their 2021 legislation packet the requirement for criminal background checks for the Board of Psychology. Ms. Payne seconded the motion and the motion passed.

Consideration of amendment or waivers to permit online continuing education-Elaine Yeatts

The Regulations state that *at least six of the required hours shall be earned in face-to-face or real-time interactive educational experiences. Real-time interactive shall include a course in which the learner has the opportunity to interact with the presenter and participants during the time of the presentation.* The Committee saw no need to make any changes to this requirement and asked staff to clarify in the FAQs that the real-time interactive could include Zoom, WebEx or any other video conferencing platform that allowed for real-time interactive training.

Consideration of any legislative or regulatory changes needed in case of future States of Emergency- Jaime Hoyle

After discussion, Dr. Werth motioned to recommend to the Full Board to request that the Agency put forth legislation to amend the Virginia Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) to allow all Board meetings to be held virtually with the exception of disciplinary meetings. Dr. Ball seconded the motion and the motion passed.

**Discussion of Inactive Residents in Psychology on License Look up-
Dr. Ball**

Dr. Ball recommended that the staff ensure that residents' registrations on license lookup are accurate and that staff notifies residents at the onset of the residency that they are required to complete their supervised experience in no more than three years.

**Comparison of ASPPB Social Media Guidelines and the Board's
Telepsychology Guidance document-Dr. Ball**

The Committee discussed both documents and deferred to a later meeting as to whether to keep the guidance documents separate, combined, or create a new document regarding Telepsychology and Social Media guidelines.

ADJOURNMENT:

The meeting adjourned at 12:05 p.m.

John D. Ball, Ph.D., ABPP, Chair

Date

Jaime Hoyle, J.D., Executive Director

Date

**VIRGINIA BOARD OF PSYCHOLOGY
REGULATORY ADVISORY PANEL MEETING
DRAFT MEETING MINUTES
Thursday September 10, 2020**

- TIME AND PLACE:** Consistent with Amendment 28 to HB29 (the Budget Bill for 2018-2020) and the applicable provisions of § 2.2-3708.2 in the Freedom of Information Act, the Committee convened the meeting virtually to consider such regulatory and business matters as are presented on the agenda necessary for the committee to discharge its lawful purposes, duties, and responsibilities.
- PRESIDING OFFICER:** James Werth, Jr. Ph.D., ABPP, Chair
- PANEL MEMBERS PRESENT:** J.D. Ball, Ph.D., ABPP, Vice-Chair, Board of Psychology
Dr. David Boehm, LCSW, CSOTP, Virginia Sex Offender Treatment Association (VSOTA)
Maria Stransky, LPC, CSAC, CSOTP, Board of Counseling
Dr. Terry Tinsley, LPC, LMFT, CSOTP, Board of Counseling
- STAFF PRESENT:** Deborah Harris, Licensing Manager
Jaime Hoyle, JD, Executive Director
Jennifer Lang, Deputy Executive Director
Charlotte Lenart, Deputy Executive Deputy Director-Licensing
Sharniece Vaughan, Licensing Specialist
Elaine Yeatts, DHP Senior Policy Analyst
- CALL TO ORDER:** Dr. Werth, Chair, called the meeting to order at 1:30 p.m.

Dr. Werth welcomed Board members, staff, and members of the public.
- PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD:** No public comment.
- REGULATIONS REVIEW:** The Panel reviewed the Laws Governing the Certification of Sex Offender Treatment Providers (CSTOP). Dr. Werth stated that the Board of Psychology would take into consideration the Panel's comments when discussing the period review.
- NEXT MEETING:** The next Regulatory Advisory Panel meeting is scheduled for October 1, 2020.
- ADJOURNMENT:** The meeting adjourned at 4:30 p.m.

James Werth, Jr. Ph.D., ABPP, Chair

Date

Jaime Hoyle, J.D., Executive Director

Date

DRAFT

**VIRGINIA BOARD OF PSYCHOLOGY
REGULATORY ADVISORY PANEL MEETING
DRAFT MEETING MINUTES
Thursday, October 1, 2020**

- TIME AND PLACE:** Consistent with Amendment 28 to HB29 (the Budget Bill for 2018-2020) and the applicable provisions of § 2.2-3708.2 in the Freedom of Information Act, the Committee convened the meeting virtually to consider such regulatory and business matters as are presented on the agenda necessary for the committee to discharge its lawful purposes, duties, and responsibilities.
- PRESIDING OFFICER:** James Werth, Jr. Ph.D., ABPP, Chair
- PANEL MEMBERS PRESENT:** J.D. Ball, Ph.D., ABPP, Vice-Chair, Board of Psychology
Dr. David Boehm, LCSW, CSOTP, Virginia Sex Offender Treatment Association (VSOTA)
Maria Stransky, LPC, CSAC, CSOTP, Board of Counseling
Dr. Terry Tinsley, LPC, LMFT, CSOTP, Board of Counseling
- STAFF PRESENT:** Deborah Harris, Licensing Manager
Jaime Hoyle, JD, Executive Director
Jennifer Lang, Deputy Executive Director
Charlotte Lenart, Deputy Executive Director of Licensing
Jared McDonough, Administrative Assistant
Sharniece Vaughan, Licensing Specialist
Elaine Yeatts, DHP Senior Policy Analyst
- CALL TO ORDER:** Dr. Ball, Vice-Chair, called the meeting to order at 1:35 p.m. and read the mission statement.
- Ms. Hoyle called roll for the Regulatory Advisory Panel (RAP) and staff. With five members for the RAP present, a quorum was established.
- PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD:** No public comment.
- REGULATIONS REVIEW:** The Panel continued to review of the Laws Governing the Certification of Sex Offender Treatment Providers (CSTOP). Dr. Werth informed the Panel that the recommendations that were discussed today will be presented to the full Board of Psychology for consideration.
- ADJOURNMENT:** The meeting adjourned at 2:56 p.m.

James Werth, Jr. Ph.D., ABPP, Chair

Date

Jaime Hoyle, J.D., Executive Director

Date

DRAFT

Guidance Document:
Preparing for Expected and Unexpected Departures from the Operation of a Psychological Practice

This document does not attempt comprehensive coverage of an extensive reference literature that is now available to guide psychologists in planning for expected and unexpected departures from operating a psychological practice, including the psychologist's own death. Even to list this relevant literature is beyond the scope of this guidance document. Rather, the purpose of this document to emphasize the critical importance of this planning, outline essential preparatory considerations, and name a few aspirational documents from national psychology organizations whose members have devoted extensive time, energy, and thought to this topic.

If a psychologist knows they will temporarily withdraw from practice, this withdrawal should be made clear to clients/patients as soon as possible and no later than the outset of the psychologist's absence. When the psychologist returns to practice, clients/patients should be so informed.

Planning for permanently closing a psychological practice begins with the identification of a professional executor who, in essence, is given the keys to the "house" as the practice custodian. The professional executor will need a specific advance directive and access to all hard copy and electronic files/records, any needed keys, and any needed software/website user-names, passwords, and two-factor authentication details; this information and these associated accessibilities will need to be updated annually. Consistent with the psychologist's responsibility not to abandon clients/patients, the specific naming of a professional executor or team of executors who knows of and has agreed to this role ensures that clients/patients have access to continuing care and, importantly, to their health records. A professional will, even a digital will, is a wise way to maintain these protections in the event of the psychologists' unanticipated death or disabling health condition.

At the time of a practice closure, the psychologist and/or the professional executor should take these actions:

- Immediately secure all client/patient records,
- Identify and catalogue all clients/patients' records,
- Arrange for the secure retention of records in keeping with state legal mandates regarding healthcare record keeping,
- Determine outstanding client/patient issues,
- Provide written notification to clients/patients,
- Provide written notice to parties of all open contracts, professional organizations, and the Virginia Board of Psychology,

- Manage any business associate agreements involved in the maintenance of electronic records, including any timed account deletions of inactive accounts,
- Facilitate access to ongoing services for active patients,
- Facilitate access to patient records as necessary, following all relevant Virginia and statutory mandates,
- Document all steps taken.

References

American Psychological Association (2007). Record keeping guidelines. American Psychologist, 62, 993-1004. <https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003066X.62.9.993>

American Psychological Association (2017). Ethical principles of psychologists and code of Conduct. (2002, amended effective June 1, 2010 and January 1, 2017). <https://www.apa.org/ethics/code/>

§ 54.1-2405. Transfer of patient records in conjunction with closure, sale, or relocation of practice; notice required.

A. No person licensed, registered, or certified by one of the health regulatory boards under the Department shall transfer records pertaining to a current patient in conjunction with the closure, sale or relocation of a professional practice until such person has first attempted to notify the patient of the pending transfer, by mail, at the patient's last known address, and by publishing prior notice in a newspaper of general circulation within the provider's practice area, as specified in § 8.01-324.

The notice shall specify that, at the written request of the patient or an authorized representative, the records or copies will be sent, within a reasonable time, to any other like-regulated provider of the patient's choice or provided to the patient pursuant to § 32.1-127.1:03. The notice shall also disclose whether any charges will be billed by the provider for supplying the patient or the provider chosen by the patient with the originals or copies of the patient's records. Such charges shall not exceed the actual costs of copying and mailing or delivering the records.

B. For the purposes of this section:

"Current patient" means a patient who has had a patient encounter with the provider or his professional practice during the two-year period immediately preceding the date of the record transfer.

"Relocation of a professional practice" means the moving of a practice located in Virginia from the location at which the records are stored at the time of the notice to another practice site that is located more than 30 miles away or to another practice site that is located in another state or the District of Columbia.

(1992, c. 759; 2003, cc. 912, 917; 2004, c. 53.)

§ 32.1-127.1:03. Health records privacy.

A. There is hereby recognized an individual's right of privacy in the content of his health records. Health records are the property of the health care entity maintaining them, and, except when permitted or required by this section or by other provisions of state law, no health care entity, or other person working in a health care setting, may disclose an individual's health records.

Pursuant to this subsection:

1. Health care entities shall disclose health records to the individual who is the subject of the health record, except as provided in subsections E and F and subsection B of § [8.01-413](#).
2. Health records shall not be removed from the premises where they are maintained without the approval of the health care entity that maintains such health records, except in accordance with a court order or subpoena consistent with subsection C of § [8.01-413](#) or with this section or in accordance with the regulations relating to change of ownership of health records promulgated by a health regulatory board established in Title 54.1.
3. No person to whom health records are disclosed shall redisclose or otherwise reveal the health records of an individual, beyond the purpose for which such disclosure was made, without first obtaining the individual's specific authorization to such redisclosure. This redisclosure prohibition shall not, however, prevent (i) any health care entity that receives health records from another health care entity from making subsequent disclosures as permitted under this section and the federal Department of Health and Human Services regulations relating to privacy of the electronic transmission of data and protected health information promulgated by the United States Department of Health and Human Services as required by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) (42 U.S.C. § 1320d et seq.) or (ii) any health care entity from furnishing health records and aggregate or other data, from which individually identifying prescription information has been removed, encoded or encrypted, to qualified researchers, including, but not limited to, pharmaceutical manufacturers and their agents or contractors, for purposes of clinical, pharmaco-epidemiological, pharmaco-economic, or other health services research.

4. Health care entities shall, upon the request of the individual who is the subject of the health record, disclose health records to other health care entities, in any available format of the requester's choosing, as provided in subsection E.

B. As used in this section:

"Agent" means a person who has been appointed as an individual's agent under a power of attorney for health care or an advance directive under the Health Care Decisions Act (§ [54.1-2981](#) et seq.).

"Certification" means a written representation that is delivered by hand, by first-class mail, by overnight delivery service, or by facsimile if the sender obtains a facsimile-machine-generated confirmation reflecting that all facsimile pages were successfully transmitted.

"Guardian" means a court-appointed guardian of the person.

"Health care clearinghouse" means, consistent with the definition set out in 45 C.F.R. § 160.103, a public or private entity, such as a billing service, repricing company, community health management information system or community health information system, and "value-added" networks and switches, that performs either of the following functions: (i) processes or facilitates the processing of health information received from another entity in a nonstandard format or containing nonstandard data content into standard data elements or a standard transaction; or (ii) receives a standard transaction from another entity and processes or facilitates the processing of health information into nonstandard format or nonstandard data content for the receiving entity.

"Health care entity" means any health care provider, health plan or health care clearinghouse.

"Health care provider" means those entities listed in the definition of "health care provider" in § [8.01-581.1](#), except that state-operated facilities shall also be considered health care providers for the purposes of this section. Health care provider shall also include all persons who are licensed, certified, registered or permitted or who hold a multistate licensure privilege issued by any of the health regulatory boards within the Department of Health Professions, except persons regulated by the Board of Funeral Directors and Embalmers or the Board of Veterinary Medicine.

"Health plan" means an individual or group plan that provides, or pays the cost of, medical care.

"Health plan" includes any entity included in such definition as set out in 45 C.F.R. § 160.103.

"Health record" means any written, printed or electronically recorded material maintained by a health care entity in the course of providing health services to an individual concerning the individual and the services provided. "Health record" also includes the substance of any communication made by an individual to a health care entity in confidence during or in

connection with the provision of health services or information otherwise acquired by the health care entity about an individual in confidence and in connection with the provision of health services to the individual.

"Health services" means, but shall not be limited to, examination, diagnosis, evaluation, treatment, pharmaceuticals, aftercare, habilitation or rehabilitation and mental health therapy of any kind, as well as payment or reimbursement for any such services.

"Individual" means a patient who is receiving or has received health services from a health care entity.

"Individually identifying prescription information" means all prescriptions, drug orders or any other prescription information that specifically identifies an individual.

"Parent" means a biological, adoptive or foster parent.

"Psychotherapy notes" means comments, recorded in any medium by a health care provider who is a mental health professional, documenting or analyzing the contents of conversation during a private counseling session with an individual or a group, joint, or family counseling session that are separated from the rest of the individual's health record. "Psychotherapy notes" does not include annotations relating to medication and prescription monitoring, counseling session start and stop times, treatment modalities and frequencies, clinical test results, or any summary of any symptoms, diagnosis, prognosis, functional status, treatment plan, or the individual's progress to date.

C. The provisions of this section shall not apply to any of the following:

1. The status of and release of information governed by §§ [65.2-604](#) and [65.2-607](#) of the Virginia Workers' Compensation Act;
2. Except where specifically provided herein, the health records of minors;
3. The release of juvenile health records to a secure facility or a shelter care facility pursuant to § [16.1-248.3](#); or
4. The release of health records to a state correctional facility pursuant to § [53.1-40.10](#) or a local or regional correctional facility pursuant to § [53.1-133.03](#).

D. Health care entities may, and, when required by other provisions of state law, shall, disclose health records:

1. As set forth in subsection E, pursuant to the written authorization of (i) the individual or (ii) in the case of a minor, (a) his custodial parent, guardian or other person authorized to consent to treatment of minors pursuant to § [54.1-2969](#) or (b) the minor himself, if he has consented to his own treatment pursuant to § [54.1-2969](#), or (iii) in emergency cases or situations where it is impractical to obtain an individual's written authorization, pursuant to the individual's oral authorization for a health care provider or health plan to discuss the individual's health records with a third party specified by the individual;
2. In compliance with a subpoena issued in accord with subsection H, pursuant to a search warrant or a grand jury subpoena, pursuant to court order upon good cause shown or in compliance with a subpoena issued pursuant to subsection C of § [8.01-413](#). Regardless of the manner by which health records relating to an individual are compelled to be disclosed pursuant to this subdivision, nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to prohibit any staff or employee of a health care entity from providing information about such individual to a law-enforcement officer in connection with such subpoena, search warrant, or court order;
3. In accord with subsection F of § [8.01-399](#) including, but not limited to, situations where disclosure is reasonably necessary to establish or collect a fee or to defend a health care entity or the health care entity's employees or staff against any accusation of wrongful conduct; also as required in the course of an investigation, audit, review or proceedings regarding a health care entity's conduct by a duly authorized law-enforcement, licensure, accreditation, or professional review entity;
4. In testimony in accordance with §§ [8.01-399](#) and [8.01-400.2](#);
5. In compliance with the provisions of § [8.01-413](#);
6. As required or authorized by law relating to public health activities, health oversight activities, serious threats to health or safety, or abuse, neglect or domestic violence, relating to contagious disease, public safety, and suspected child or adult abuse reporting requirements, including, but not limited to, those contained in §§ [16.1-248.3](#), [32.1-36](#), [32.1-36.1](#), [32.1-40](#), [32.1-41](#), [32.1-127.1:04](#), [32.1-276.5](#), [32.1-283](#), [32.1-283.1](#), [32.1-320](#), [37.2-710](#), [37.2-839](#), [53.1-40.10](#), [53.1-133.03](#), [54.1-2400.6](#), [54.1-2400.7](#), [54.1-2400.9](#), [54.1-2403.3](#), [54.1-2506](#), [54.1-2966](#), [54.1-2967](#), [54.1-2968](#), [54.1-3408.2](#), [63.2-1509](#), and [63.2-1606](#);
7. Where necessary in connection with the care of the individual;
8. In connection with the health care entity's own health care operations or the health care operations of another health care entity, as specified in 45 C.F.R. § 164.501, or in the normal course of business in accordance with accepted standards of practice within the health services

setting; however, the maintenance, storage, and disclosure of the mass of prescription dispensing records maintained in a pharmacy registered or permitted in Virginia shall only be accomplished in compliance with §§ [54.1-3410](#), [54.1-3411](#), and [54.1-3412](#);

9. When the individual has waived his right to the privacy of the health records;

10. When examination and evaluation of an individual are undertaken pursuant to judicial or administrative law order, but only to the extent as required by such order;

11. To the guardian ad litem and any attorney representing the respondent in the course of a guardianship proceeding of an adult patient who is the respondent in a proceeding under Chapter 20 (§ [64.2-2000](#) et seq.) of Title 64.2;

12. To the guardian ad litem and any attorney appointed by the court to represent an individual who is or has been a patient who is the subject of a commitment proceeding under § [19.2-169.6](#), Article 5 (§ [37.2-814](#) et seq.) of Chapter 8 of Title 37.2, Article 16 (§ [16.1-335](#) et seq.) of Chapter 11 of Title 16.1, or a judicial authorization for treatment proceeding pursuant to Chapter 11 (§ [37.2-1100](#) et seq.) of Title 37.2;

13. To a magistrate, the court, the evaluator or examiner required under Article 16 (§ [16.1-335](#) et seq.) of Chapter 11 of Title 16.1 or § [37.2-815](#), a community services board or behavioral health authority or a designee of a community services board or behavioral health authority, or a law-enforcement officer participating in any proceeding under Article 16 (§ [16.1-335](#) et seq.) of Chapter 11 of Title 16.1, § [19.2-169.6](#), or Chapter 8 (§ [37.2-800](#) et seq.) of Title 37.2 regarding the subject of the proceeding, and to any health care provider evaluating or providing services to the person who is the subject of the proceeding or monitoring the person's adherence to a treatment plan ordered under those provisions. Health records disclosed to a law-enforcement officer shall be limited to information necessary to protect the officer, the person, or the public from physical injury or to address the health care needs of the person. Information disclosed to a law-enforcement officer shall not be used for any other purpose, disclosed to others, or retained;

14. To the attorney and/or guardian ad litem of a minor who represents such minor in any judicial or administrative proceeding, if the court or administrative hearing officer has entered an order granting the attorney or guardian ad litem this right and such attorney or guardian ad litem presents evidence to the health care entity of such order;

15. With regard to the Court-Appointed Special Advocate (CASA) program, a minor's health records in accord with § [9.1-156](#);

16. To an agent appointed under an individual's power of attorney or to an agent or decision maker designated in an individual's advance directive for health care or for decisions on anatomical gifts and organ, tissue or eye donation or to any other person consistent with the provisions of the Health Care Decisions Act (§ [54.1-2981](#) et seq.);
17. To third-party payors and their agents for purposes of reimbursement;
18. As is necessary to support an application for receipt of health care benefits from a governmental agency or as required by an authorized governmental agency reviewing such application or reviewing benefits already provided or as necessary to the coordination of prevention and control of disease, injury, or disability and delivery of such health care benefits pursuant to § [32.1-127.1:04](#);
19. Upon the sale of a medical practice as provided in § [54.1-2405](#); or upon a change of ownership or closing of a pharmacy pursuant to regulations of the Board of Pharmacy;
20. In accord with subsection B of § [54.1-2400.1](#), to communicate an individual's specific and immediate threat to cause serious bodily injury or death of an identified or readily identifiable person;
21. Where necessary in connection with the implementation of a hospital's routine contact process for organ donation pursuant to subdivision B 4 of § [32.1-127](#);
22. In the case of substance abuse records, when permitted by and in conformity with requirements of federal law found in 42 U.S.C. § 290dd-2 and 42 C.F.R. Part 2;
23. In connection with the work of any entity established as set forth in § [8.01-581.16](#) to evaluate the adequacy or quality of professional services or the competency and qualifications for professional staff privileges;
24. If the health records are those of a deceased or mentally incapacitated individual to the personal representative or executor of the deceased individual or the legal guardian or committee of the incompetent or incapacitated individual or if there is no personal representative, executor, legal guardian or committee appointed, to the following persons in the following order of priority: a spouse, an adult son or daughter, either parent, an adult brother or sister, or any other relative of the deceased individual in order of blood relationship;
25. For the purpose of conducting record reviews of inpatient hospital deaths to promote identification of all potential organ, eye, and tissue donors in conformance with the requirements of applicable federal law and regulations, including 42 C.F.R. § 482.45, (i) to the health care provider's designated organ procurement organization certified by the United States Health Care

Financing Administration and (ii) to any eye bank or tissue bank in Virginia certified by the Eye Bank Association of America or the American Association of Tissue Banks;

26. To the Office of the State Inspector General pursuant to Chapter 3.2 (§ [2.2-307](#) et seq.) of Title 2.2;

27. To an entity participating in the activities of a local health partnership authority established pursuant to Article 6.1 (§ [32.1-122.10:001](#) et seq.) of Chapter 4, pursuant to subdivision 1;

28. To law-enforcement officials by each licensed emergency medical services agency, (i) when the individual is the victim of a crime or (ii) when the individual has been arrested and has received emergency medical services or has refused emergency medical services and the health records consist of the prehospital patient care report required by § [32.1-116.1](#);

29. To law-enforcement officials, in response to their request, for the purpose of identifying or locating a suspect, fugitive, person required to register pursuant to § [9.1-901](#) of the Sex Offender and Crimes Against Minors Registry Act, material witness, or missing person, provided that only the following information may be disclosed: (i) name and address of the person, (ii) date and place of birth of the person, (iii) social security number of the person, (iv) blood type of the person, (v) date and time of treatment received by the person, (vi) date and time of death of the person, where applicable, (vii) description of distinguishing physical characteristics of the person, and (viii) type of injury sustained by the person;

30. To law-enforcement officials regarding the death of an individual for the purpose of alerting law enforcement of the death if the health care entity has a suspicion that such death may have resulted from criminal conduct;

31. To law-enforcement officials if the health care entity believes in good faith that the information disclosed constitutes evidence of a crime that occurred on its premises;

32. To the State Health Commissioner pursuant to § [32.1-48.015](#) when such records are those of a person or persons who are subject to an order of quarantine or an order of isolation pursuant to Article 3.02 (§ [32.1-48.05](#) et seq.) of Chapter 2;

33. To the Commissioner of the Department of Labor and Industry or his designee by each licensed emergency medical services agency when the records consist of the prehospital patient care report required by § [32.1-116.1](#) and the patient has suffered an injury or death on a work site while performing duties or tasks that are within the scope of his employment;

34. To notify a family member or personal representative of an individual who is the subject of a proceeding pursuant to Article 16 (§ [16.1-335](#) et seq.) of Chapter 11 of Title 16.1 or Chapter 8 (§

[37.2-800](#) et seq.) of Title 37.2 of information that is directly relevant to such person's involvement with the individual's health care, which may include the individual's location and general condition, when the individual has the capacity to make health care decisions and (i) the individual has agreed to the notification, (ii) the individual has been provided an opportunity to object to the notification and does not express an objection, or (iii) the health care provider can, on the basis of his professional judgment, reasonably infer from the circumstances that the individual does not object to the notification. If the opportunity to agree or object to the notification cannot practicably be provided because of the individual's incapacity or an emergency circumstance, the health care provider may notify a family member or personal representative of the individual of information that is directly relevant to such person's involvement with the individual's health care, which may include the individual's location and general condition if the health care provider, in the exercise of his professional judgment, determines that the notification is in the best interests of the individual. Such notification shall not be made if the provider has actual knowledge the family member or personal representative is currently prohibited by court order from contacting the individual;

35. To a threat assessment team established by a local school board pursuant to § [22.1-79.4](#), by a public institution of higher education pursuant to § [23.1-805](#), or by a private nonprofit institution of higher education; and

36. To a regional emergency medical services council pursuant to § [32.1-116.1](#), for purposes limited to monitoring and improving the quality of emergency medical services pursuant to § [32.1-111.3](#).

Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivisions 1 through 35, a health care entity shall obtain an individual's written authorization for any disclosure of psychotherapy notes, except when disclosure by the health care entity is (i) for its own training programs in which students, trainees, or practitioners in mental health are being taught under supervision to practice or to improve their skills in group, joint, family, or individual counseling; (ii) to defend itself or its employees or staff against any accusation of wrongful conduct; (iii) in the discharge of the duty, in accordance with subsection B of § [54.1-2400.1](#), to take precautions to protect third parties from violent behavior or other serious harm; (iv) required in the course of an investigation, audit, review, or proceeding regarding a health care entity's conduct by a duly authorized law-enforcement, licensure, accreditation, or professional review entity; or (v) otherwise required by law.

E. Health care records required to be disclosed pursuant to this section shall be made available electronically only to the extent and in the manner authorized by the federal Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (P.L. 111-5) and implementing regulations

and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (42 U.S.C. § 1320d et seq.) and implementing regulations. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, a health care entity shall not be required to provide records in an electronic format requested if (i) the electronic format is not reasonably available without additional cost to the health care entity, (ii) the records would be subject to modification in the format requested, or (iii) the health care entity determines that the integrity of the records could be compromised in the electronic format requested. Requests for copies of or electronic access to health records shall (a) be in writing, dated and signed by the requester; (b) identify the nature of the information requested; and (c) include evidence of the authority of the requester to receive such copies or access such records, and identification of the person to whom the information is to be disclosed; and (d) specify whether the requester would like the records in electronic format, if available, or in paper format. The health care entity shall accept a photocopy, facsimile, or other copy of the original signed by the requester as if it were an original. Within 30 days of receipt of a request for copies of or electronic access to health records, the health care entity shall do one of the following: (1) furnish such copies of or allow electronic access to the requested health records to any requester authorized to receive them in electronic format if so requested; (2) inform the requester if the information does not exist or cannot be found; (3) if the health care entity does not maintain a record of the information, so inform the requester and provide the name and address, if known, of the health care entity who maintains the record; or (4) deny the request (A) under subsection F, (B) on the grounds that the requester has not established his authority to receive such health records or proof of his identity, or (C) as otherwise provided by law. Procedures set forth in this section shall apply only to requests for health records not specifically governed by other provisions of state law.

F. Except as provided in subsection B of § [8.01-413](#), copies of or electronic access to an individual's health records shall not be furnished to such individual or anyone authorized to act on the individual's behalf when the individual's treating physician, clinical psychologist, or clinical social worker has made a part of the individual's record a written statement that, in the exercise of his professional judgment, the furnishing to or review by the individual of such health records would be reasonably likely to endanger the life or physical safety of the individual or another person, or that such health record makes reference to a person other than a health care provider and the access requested would be reasonably likely to cause substantial harm to such referenced person. If any health care entity denies a request for copies of or electronic access to health records based on such statement, the health care entity shall inform the individual of the individual's right to designate, in writing, at his own expense, another reviewing physician, clinical psychologist, or clinical social worker whose licensure, training and experience relative to the individual's condition are at least equivalent to that of the physician, clinical psychologist,

or clinical social worker upon whose opinion the denial is based. The designated reviewing physician, clinical psychologist, or clinical social worker shall make a judgment as to whether to make the health record available to the individual.

The health care entity denying the request shall also inform the individual of the individual's right to request in writing that such health care entity designate, at its own expense, a physician, clinical psychologist, or clinical social worker, whose licensure, training, and experience relative to the individual's condition are at least equivalent to that of the physician, clinical psychologist, or clinical social worker upon whose professional judgment the denial is based and who did not participate in the original decision to deny the health records, who shall make a judgment as to whether to make the health record available to the individual. The health care entity shall comply with the judgment of the reviewing physician, clinical psychologist, or clinical social worker. The health care entity shall permit copying and examination of the health record by such other physician, clinical psychologist, or clinical social worker designated by either the individual at his own expense or by the health care entity at its expense.

Any health record copied for review by any such designated physician, clinical psychologist, or clinical social worker shall be accompanied by a statement from the custodian of the health record that the individual's treating physician, clinical psychologist, or clinical social worker determined that the individual's review of his health record would be reasonably likely to endanger the life or physical safety of the individual or would be reasonably likely to cause substantial harm to a person referenced in the health record who is not a health care provider.

Further, nothing herein shall be construed as giving, or interpreted to bestow the right to receive copies of, or otherwise obtain access to, psychotherapy notes to any individual or any person authorized to act on his behalf.

G. A written authorization to allow release of an individual's health records shall substantially include the following information:

AUTHORIZATION TO RELEASE CONFIDENTIAL HEALTH RECORDS

Individual's Name _____

Health Care Entity's Name _____

Person, Agency, or Health Care Entity to whom disclosure is to be made

Information or Health Records to be disclosed

Purpose of Disclosure or at the Request of the Individual

As the person signing this authorization, I understand that I am giving my permission to the above-named health care entity for disclosure of confidential health records. I understand that the health care entity may not condition treatment or payment on my willingness to sign this authorization unless the specific circumstances under which such conditioning is permitted by law are applicable and are set forth in this authorization. I also understand that I have the right to revoke this authorization at any time, but that my revocation is not effective until delivered in writing to the person who is in possession of my health records and is not effective as to health records already disclosed under this authorization. A copy of this authorization and a notation concerning the persons or agencies to whom disclosure was made shall be included with my original health records. I understand that health information disclosed under this authorization might be redisclosed by a recipient and may, as a result of such disclosure, no longer be protected to the same extent as such health information was protected by law while solely in the possession of the health care entity.

This authorization expires on (date) or (event) _____

Signature of Individual or Individual's Legal Representative if Individual is Unable to Sign

Relationship or Authority of Legal Representative

Date of Signature _____

H. Pursuant to this subsection:

1. Unless excepted from these provisions in subdivision 9, no party to a civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding shall request the issuance of a subpoena duces tecum for another party's health records or cause a subpoena duces tecum to be issued by an attorney unless a copy of the request for the subpoena or a copy of the attorney-issued subpoena is provided to the other party's counsel or to the other party if pro se, simultaneously with filing the request or issuance of the subpoena. No party to an action or proceeding shall request or cause the issuance of a subpoena duces tecum for the health records of a nonparty witness unless a copy of the

request for the subpoena or a copy of the attorney-issued subpoena is provided to the nonparty witness simultaneously with filing the request or issuance of the attorney-issued subpoena.

No subpoena duces tecum for health records shall set a return date earlier than 15 days from the date of the subpoena except by order of a court or administrative agency for good cause shown. When a court or administrative agency directs that health records be disclosed pursuant to a subpoena duces tecum earlier than 15 days from the date of the subpoena, a copy of the order shall accompany the subpoena.

Any party requesting a subpoena duces tecum for health records or on whose behalf the subpoena duces tecum is being issued shall have the duty to determine whether the individual whose health records are being sought is pro se or a nonparty.

In instances where health records being subpoenaed are those of a pro se party or nonparty witness, the party requesting or issuing the subpoena shall deliver to the pro se party or nonparty witness together with the copy of the request for subpoena, or a copy of the subpoena in the case of an attorney-issued subpoena, a statement informing them of their rights and remedies. The statement shall include the following language and the heading shall be in boldface capital letters:

NOTICE TO INDIVIDUAL

The attached document means that (insert name of party requesting or causing issuance of the subpoena) has either asked the court or administrative agency to issue a subpoena or a subpoena has been issued by the other party's attorney to your doctor, other health care providers (names of health care providers inserted here) or other health care entity (name of health care entity to be inserted here) requiring them to produce your health records. Your doctor, other health care provider or other health care entity is required to respond by providing a copy of your health records. If you believe your health records should not be disclosed and object to their disclosure, you have the right to file a motion with the clerk of the court or the administrative agency to quash the subpoena. If you elect to file a motion to quash, such motion must be filed within 15 days of the date of the request or of the attorney-issued subpoena. You may contact the clerk's office or the administrative agency to determine the requirements that must be satisfied when filing a motion to quash and you may elect to contact an attorney to represent your interest. If you elect to file a motion to quash, you must notify your doctor, other health care provider(s), or other health care entity, that you are filing the motion so that the health care provider or health care entity knows to send the health records to the clerk of court or administrative agency in a sealed envelope or package for safekeeping while your motion is decided.

2. Any party filing a request for a subpoena duces tecum or causing such a subpoena to be issued for an individual's health records shall include a Notice in the same part of the request in which the recipient of the subpoena duces tecum is directed where and when to return the health records. Such notice shall be in boldface capital letters and shall include the following language:

NOTICE TO HEALTH CARE ENTITIES

A COPY OF THIS SUBPOENA DUCES TECUM HAS BEEN PROVIDED TO THE INDIVIDUAL WHOSE HEALTH RECORDS ARE BEING REQUESTED OR HIS COUNSEL. YOU OR THAT INDIVIDUAL HAS THE RIGHT TO FILE A MOTION TO QUASH (OBJECT TO) THE ATTACHED SUBPOENA. IF YOU ELECT TO FILE A MOTION TO QUASH, YOU MUST FILE THE MOTION WITHIN 15 DAYS OF THE DATE OF THIS SUBPOENA.

YOU MUST NOT RESPOND TO THIS SUBPOENA UNTIL YOU HAVE RECEIVED WRITTEN CERTIFICATION FROM THE PARTY ON WHOSE BEHALF THE SUBPOENA WAS ISSUED THAT THE TIME FOR FILING A MOTION TO QUASH HAS ELAPSED AND THAT:

NO MOTION TO QUASH WAS FILED; OR

ANY MOTION TO QUASH HAS BEEN RESOLVED BY THE COURT OR THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY AND THE DISCLOSURES SOUGHT ARE CONSISTENT WITH SUCH RESOLUTION.

IF YOU RECEIVE NOTICE THAT THE INDIVIDUAL WHOSE HEALTH RECORDS ARE BEING REQUESTED HAS FILED A MOTION TO QUASH THIS SUBPOENA, OR IF YOU FILE A MOTION TO QUASH THIS SUBPOENA, YOU MUST SEND THE HEALTH RECORDS ONLY TO THE CLERK OF THE COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY THAT ISSUED THE SUBPOENA OR IN WHICH THE ACTION IS PENDING AS SHOWN ON THE SUBPOENA USING THE FOLLOWING PROCEDURE:

PLACE THE HEALTH RECORDS IN A SEALED ENVELOPE AND ATTACH TO THE SEALED ENVELOPE A COVER LETTER TO THE CLERK OF COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY WHICH STATES THAT CONFIDENTIAL HEALTH RECORDS ARE ENCLOSED AND ARE TO BE HELD UNDER SEAL PENDING A RULING ON THE MOTION TO QUASH THE SUBPOENA. THE SEALED ENVELOPE AND THE COVER LETTER SHALL BE PLACED IN AN OUTER ENVELOPE OR PACKAGE FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY.

3. Upon receiving a valid subpoena duces tecum for health records, health care entities shall have the duty to respond to the subpoena in accordance with the provisions of subdivisions 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8.

4. Except to deliver to a clerk of the court or administrative agency subpoenaed health records in a sealed envelope as set forth, health care entities shall not respond to a subpoena duces tecum for such health records until they have received a certification as set forth in subdivision 5 or 8 from the party on whose behalf the subpoena duces tecum was issued.

If the health care entity has actual receipt of notice that a motion to quash the subpoena has been filed or if the health care entity files a motion to quash the subpoena for health records, then the health care entity shall produce the health records, in a securely sealed envelope, to the clerk of the court or administrative agency issuing the subpoena or in whose court or administrative agency the action is pending. The court or administrative agency shall place the health records under seal until a determination is made regarding the motion to quash. The securely sealed envelope shall only be opened on order of the judge or administrative agency. In the event the court or administrative agency grants the motion to quash, the health records shall be returned to the health care entity in the same sealed envelope in which they were delivered to the court or administrative agency. In the event that a judge or administrative agency orders the sealed envelope to be opened to review the health records in camera, a copy of the order shall accompany any health records returned to the health care entity. The health records returned to the health care entity shall be in a securely sealed envelope.

5. If no motion to quash is filed within 15 days of the date of the request or of the attorney-issued subpoena, the party on whose behalf the subpoena was issued shall have the duty to certify to the subpoenaed health care entity that the time for filing a motion to quash has elapsed and that no motion to quash was filed. Any health care entity receiving such certification shall have the duty to comply with the subpoena duces tecum by returning the specified health records by either the return date on the subpoena or five days after receipt of the certification, whichever is later.

6. In the event that the individual whose health records are being sought files a motion to quash the subpoena, the court or administrative agency shall decide whether good cause has been shown by the discovering party to compel disclosure of the individual's health records over the individual's objections. In determining whether good cause has been shown, the court or administrative agency shall consider (i) the particular purpose for which the information was collected; (ii) the degree to which the disclosure of the records would embarrass, injure, or invade the privacy of the individual; (iii) the effect of the disclosure on the individual's future health care; (iv) the importance of the information to the lawsuit or proceeding; and (v) any other relevant factor.

7. Concurrent with the court or administrative agency's resolution of a motion to quash, if subpoenaed health records have been submitted by a health care entity to the court or administrative agency in a sealed envelope, the court or administrative agency shall: (i) upon determining that no submitted health records should be disclosed, return all submitted health records to the health care entity in a sealed envelope; (ii) upon determining that all submitted health records should be disclosed, provide all the submitted health records to the party on whose behalf the subpoena was issued; or (iii) upon determining that only a portion of the submitted health records should be disclosed, provide such portion to the party on whose behalf the subpoena was issued and return the remaining health records to the health care entity in a sealed envelope.

8. Following the court or administrative agency's resolution of a motion to quash, the party on whose behalf the subpoena duces tecum was issued shall have the duty to certify in writing to the subpoenaed health care entity a statement of one of the following:

a. All filed motions to quash have been resolved by the court or administrative agency and the disclosures sought in the subpoena duces tecum are consistent with such resolution; and, therefore, the health records previously delivered in a sealed envelope to the clerk of the court or administrative agency will not be returned to the health care entity;

b. All filed motions to quash have been resolved by the court or administrative agency and the disclosures sought in the subpoena duces tecum are consistent with such resolution and that, since no health records have previously been delivered to the court or administrative agency by the health care entity, the health care entity shall comply with the subpoena duces tecum by returning the health records designated in the subpoena by the return date on the subpoena or five days after receipt of certification, whichever is later;

c. All filed motions to quash have been resolved by the court or administrative agency and the disclosures sought in the subpoena duces tecum are not consistent with such resolution; therefore, no health records shall be disclosed and all health records previously delivered in a sealed envelope to the clerk of the court or administrative agency will be returned to the health care entity;

d. All filed motions to quash have been resolved by the court or administrative agency and the disclosures sought in the subpoena duces tecum are not consistent with such resolution and that only limited disclosure has been authorized. The certification shall state that only the portion of the health records as set forth in the certification, consistent with the court or administrative agency's ruling, shall be disclosed. The certification shall also state that health records that were previously delivered to the court or administrative agency for which disclosure has been

authorized will not be returned to the health care entity; however, all health records for which disclosure has not been authorized will be returned to the health care entity; or

e. All filed motions to quash have been resolved by the court or administrative agency and the disclosures sought in the subpoena duces tecum are not consistent with such resolution and, since no health records have previously been delivered to the court or administrative agency by the health care entity, the health care entity shall return only those health records specified in the certification, consistent with the court or administrative agency's ruling, by the return date on the subpoena or five days after receipt of the certification, whichever is later.

A copy of the court or administrative agency's ruling shall accompany any certification made pursuant to this subdivision.

9. The provisions of this subsection have no application to subpoenas for health records requested under § [8.01-413](#), or issued by a duly authorized administrative agency conducting an investigation, audit, review or proceedings regarding a health care entity's conduct.

The provisions of this subsection shall apply to subpoenas for the health records of both minors and adults.

Nothing in this subsection shall have any effect on the existing authority of a court or administrative agency to issue a protective order regarding health records, including, but not limited to, ordering the return of health records to a health care entity, after the period for filing a motion to quash has passed.

A subpoena for substance abuse records must conform to the requirements of federal law found in 42 C.F.R. Part 2, Subpart E.

I. Health care entities may testify about the health records of an individual in compliance with §§ [8.01-399](#) and [8.01-400.2](#).

J. If an individual requests a copy of his health record from a health care entity, the health care entity may impose a reasonable cost-based fee, which shall include only the cost of supplies for and labor of copying the requested information, postage when the individual requests that such information be mailed, and preparation of an explanation or summary of such information as agreed to by the individual. For the purposes of this section, "individual" shall subsume a person with authority to act on behalf of the individual who is the subject of the health record in making decisions related to his health care.

K. Nothing in this section shall prohibit a health care provider who prescribes or dispenses a controlled substance required to be reported to the Prescription Monitoring Program established

pursuant to Chapter 25.2 (§ [54.1-2519](#) et seq.) of Title 54.1 to a patient from disclosing information obtained from the Prescription Monitoring Program and contained in a patient's health care record to another health care provider when such disclosure is related to the care or treatment of the patient who is the subject of the record.

1997, c. [682](#); 1998, c. [470](#); 1999, cc. [812](#), [956](#), [1010](#); 2000, cc. [810](#), [813](#), [923](#), [927](#); 2001, c. [671](#); 2002, cc. [568](#), [658](#), [835](#), [860](#); 2003, cc. [471](#), [907](#), [983](#); 2004, cc. [49](#), [64](#), [65](#), [66](#), [67](#), [163](#), [773](#), [1014](#), [1021](#); 2005, cc. [39](#), [101](#), [642](#), [697](#); 2006, c. [433](#); 2007, c. [497](#); 2008, cc. [315](#), [782](#), [850](#), [870](#); 2009, cc. [606](#), [651](#), [813](#), [840](#); 2010, cc. [185](#), [340](#), [406](#), [456](#), [524](#), [778](#), [825](#); 2011, cc. [499](#), [668](#), [798](#), [812](#), [844](#), [871](#); 2012, cc. [386](#), [402](#), [479](#); 2016, c. [554](#); 2017, cc. [457](#), [712](#), [720](#); 2018, c. [165](#); 2020, c. [945](#).

The chapters of the acts of assembly referenced in the historical citation at the end of this section may not constitute a comprehensive list of such chapters and may exclude chapters whose provisions have expired.

Part VI. Standards of Practice; Unprofessional Conduct; Disciplinary Actions; Reinstatement.

18VAC125-20-150. Standards of practice.

A. The protection of the public health, safety, and welfare and the best interest of the public shall be the primary guide in determining the appropriate professional conduct of all persons whose activities are regulated by the board. Psychologists respect the rights, dignity and worth of all people, and are mindful of individual differences.

B. Persons licensed by the board shall:

1. Provide and supervise only those services and use only those techniques for which they are qualified by training and appropriate experience. Delegate to their employees, supervisees, residents and research assistants only those responsibilities such persons can be expected to perform competently by education, training and experience. Take ongoing steps to maintain competence in the skills they use;
2. When making public statements regarding credentials, published findings, directory listings, curriculum vitae, etc., ensure that such statements are neither fraudulent nor misleading;
3. Neither accept nor give commissions, rebates or other forms of remuneration for referral of clients for professional services. Make appropriate consultations and referrals consistent with the law and based on the interest of patients or clients;
4. Refrain from undertaking any activity in which their personal problems are likely to lead to inadequate or harmful services;
5. Avoid harming patients or clients, research participants, students and others for whom they provide professional services and minimize harm when it is foreseeable and unavoidable. Not exploit or mislead people for whom they provide professional services. Be alert to and guard against misuse of influence;
6. Avoid dual relationships with patients, clients, residents or supervisees that could impair professional judgment or compromise their well-being (to include but not limited to treatment of close friends, relatives, employees);
7. Withdraw from, adjust or clarify conflicting roles with due regard for the best interest of the affected party or parties and maximal compliance with these standards;
8. Not engage in sexual intimacies or a romantic relationship with a student, supervisee, resident, therapy patient, client, or those included in collateral therapeutic services (such as a parent,

spouse, or significant other) while providing professional services. For at least five years after cessation or termination of professional services, not engage in sexual intimacies or a romantic relationship with a therapy patient, client, or those included in collateral therapeutic services. Consent to, initiation of, or participation in sexual behavior or romantic involvement with a psychologist does not change the exploitative nature of the conduct nor lift the prohibition. Since sexual or romantic relationships are potentially exploitative, psychologists shall bear the burden of demonstrating that there has been no exploitation;

9. Keep confidential their professional relationships with patients or clients and disclose client records to others only with written consent except: (i) when a patient or client is a danger to self or others, (ii) as required under §32.1-127.1:03 of the Code of Virginia, or (iii) as permitted by law for a valid purpose;

10. Make reasonable efforts to provide for continuity of care when services must be interrupted or terminated;

11. Inform clients of professional services, fees, billing arrangements and limits of confidentiality before rendering services. Inform the consumer prior to the use of collection agencies or legal measures to collect fees and provide opportunity for prompt payment. Avoid bartering goods and services. Participate in bartering only if it is not clinically contraindicated and is not exploitative;

12. Construct, maintain, administer, interpret and report testing and diagnostic services in a manner and for purposes which are appropriate;

13. Keep pertinent, confidential records for at least five years after termination of services to any consumer;

14. Design, conduct and report research in accordance with recognized standards of scientific competence and research ethics; and

15. Report to the board known or suspected violations of the laws and regulations governing the practice of psychology.

Virginia Board of Psychology

Guidance on Electronic Communication and Telepsychology

The Board's opening statement in its Standards of Practice (Regulation 18VAC125-20-150) applies regardless of whether psychological services are being provided face-to-face, by technology, or another method; it is as follows: "The protection of the public health, safety, and welfare and the best interest of the public shall be the primary guide in determining the appropriate professional conduct of all persons whose activities are regulated by the board. Psychologists respect the rights, dignity and worth of all people, and are mindful of individual differences."

Electronic communication, such as texts and emails related to client/patient care, are included in the Board's interpretation of telepsychology. Telepsychology has become a burgeoning means of delivering both professional assessment and intervention services. Telepsychology services have been implemented in a number of diverse settings to a broad range of clients, and may even be a preferred modality in some instances. With the advent of these tools in the digital age come risks to privacy and possible disruption to client / patient care.

Not all domains and issues related to electronic transmission and telepsychology can be anticipated, but this document provides guidance to psychologists providing telepsychological services to clients in the Commonwealth of Virginia for compliance with the Standards of Practice in Regulation 18VAC125-20-150. These guidelines pertain to professional exchanges between licensed psychologists and their clients/patients/supervisees. Psychologists who choose to use social media are faced with a variety of additional challenges that are not addressed in this document.

Definition of Telepsychology

For the purposes of this guidance document, the Board has adopted the definition of telepsychology developed by the American Psychological Association (APA)/ Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards/ APA Insurance Trust and reported in their *Guidelines for the Practice of Telepsychology* (2013, p. 792):

Telepsychology is defined, for the purpose of these guidelines, as the provision of psychological services using telecommunication technologies. Telecommunications is the preparation, transmission, communication, or related processing of information by electrical, electromagnetic, electromechanical, electro-optical, or electronic means (Committee on National Security Systems, 2010). Telecommunication technologies include but are not limited to telephone, mobile devices, interactive videoconferencing, e-mail, chat, text, and Internet (e.g., self-help websites, blogs, and social media). The information that is transmitted may be in writing or include images, sounds, or other data. These communications may be synchronous, with multiple parties communicating

in real time (e.g., interactive videoconferencing, telephone), or asynchronous (e.g., e-mail, online bulletin boards, storing and forwarding of information). Technologies may augment traditional in-person services (e.g., psychoeducational materials posted online after an in-person therapy session) or be used as stand-alone services (e.g., therapy or leadership development provided over videoconferencing). Different technologies may be used in various combinations and for different purposes during the provision of telepsychology services. For example, videoconferencing and telephone may also be utilized for direct service, while e-mail and text are used for nondirect services (e.g., scheduling). Regardless of the purpose, psychologists strive to be aware of the potential benefits and limitations in their choices of technologies for particular clients in particular situations.

Specific Guidance on Electronic Communication

Psychologists should be cognizant of particular risks for disclosure of confidential patient personal health information (PHI) through electronic (i.e., text and email) communications between mental health professionals and their patients. Although these communication methods share with telephone communications some significant security problems, electronic communications (i.e., phone text and email correspondence) carry particular risk as they can leave a written record of detailed information that is more easily retrieved, printed, and shared with others by any person who has or gains access to either computer device used in these two-way communications. Psychologists are advised to avoid using these tools for communicating any information that discloses a patient's personal health information or treatment details. Electronic communications are considered part of the patient's/client's health record.¹ Even for routine patient scheduling arrangements, psychologists should be aware of and advise patient/clients of associated security risks in the use of these tools. Psychologists should be cognizant of whether they are using a secure communication system. Electronic communications should be succinct and minimal in their number.

Specific Guidance on Treatment / Assessment / Supervision

(1) All provision of telepsychology services - therapeutic, assessment, or supervisory – is expected to be in real time, or synchronous.

¹ See Code of Virginia Section 32.1-127.1:03 definition: "Health record" means any written, printed or electronically recorded material maintained by a health care entity in the course of providing health services to an individual concerning the individual and the services provided. "Health record" also includes the substance of any communication made by an individual to a health care entity in confidence during or in connection with the provision of health services or information otherwise acquired by the health care entity about an individual in confidence and in connection with the provision of health services to the individual.

(2) Practitioners of telepsychology in the Commonwealth of Virginia must hold a current, valid license issued by the Virginia Board of Psychology or shall be a supervisee of a licensee.

(3) License holders understand that this guidance document does not provide licensees with authority to practice telepsychology in service to clients/ supervisees domiciled in any jurisdiction other than Virginia, and licensees engaged in out-of-state professional activities bear responsibility for complying with laws, rules, and/or policies for the practice of telepsychology set forth by other jurisdictional boards of psychology.

(4) Psychologists should make every effort to verify the client's/patient's/supervisee's geographic location at the start of each session. If the client/ patient/ supervisee is located outside of Virginia and any other jurisdictions where the psychologist holds a license, the psychologist should contact the psychology licensing board in that jurisdiction to determine whether practice would be permitted or reschedule the appointment to a time when the client/ patient/ supervisee is located in Virginia or another jurisdiction where the psychologist holds a current license.

(5) Psychologists who are licensed in Virginia but are not in Virginia at the time they want to provide telepsychology services to a patient/client/supervisee in Virginia should check with the jurisdiction where they are located to determine whether practice would be permitted.

(6) License holders practicing telepsychology shall comply with all of the regulations in 18 VAC 125-20-10 et seq., including the Standards of Practice specified in 18VAC125-20-150 and 18VAC125-20-160, and with requirements incurred in state and federal statutes relevant to the practice of clinical, school, or applied psychology.

(7) License holders practicing telepsychology should establish and maintain current competence in the professional practice of telepsychology through continuing education, consultation, or other procedures, in conformance with prevailing standards of scientific and professional knowledge, and should limit their practice to those areas of competence. License holders should establish and maintain competence in the appropriate use of the information technologies utilized in the practice of telepsychology.

(8) License holders recognize that telepsychology is not appropriate for all psychological problems and clients/ supervisees, and decisions regarding the appropriate use of telepsychology are made on a case-by-case basis. License holders practicing telepsychology are aware of additional risks incurred when practicing clinical, school, or applied psychology through the use of distance communication technologies and should take special care to conduct their professional practice in a manner that protects and makes paramount the welfare of the client/ patient/ supervisee.

(9) Psychologists who provide telepsychology services should make reasonable efforts to protect and maintain the confidentiality of the data and information relating to their clients and

inform them of any possible increased risks of compromised confidentiality that may be inherent in the use of the telecommunication technologies.

(10) License holders practicing telepsychology should:

(a) Conduct a risk-benefit analysis and document findings specific to:

(i) The chronological and developmental age of the client/ patient, and the presence of any physical or mental conditions that may affect the utility of telepsychology. Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C 794(d) is pertinent to making technology available to a client/patient with disabilities.

(ii) Whether the client's/ patient's presenting problems and apparent condition are consistent with the use of telepsychology to the client's/ patient's benefit; and

(iii) Whether the client/ patient/supervisee has sufficient knowledge and skills in the use of the technology involved in rendering the service or can use a personal aid or assistive device to benefit from the service.

(b) Not provide telepsychology services to any person or persons when the outcome of the analysis required in paragraphs (10)(a)(i) and (10)(a)(ii) and (10)(a)(iii) is inconsistent with the delivery of telepsychology services, whether related to clinical or technological issues.

(c) Consider the potential impact of multicultural issues when delivering telepsychological services to diverse clients.

(d) Upon initial and subsequent contacts with the client/ patient/ supervisee, make reasonable efforts to verify the identity of the client/ patient/supervisee;

(e) Obtain alternative means of contacting the client/ patient/supervisee (e.g., landline and/or cell phone);

(f) Provide to the client/ patient/supervisee alternative means of contacting the licensee;

(g) Establish a written agreement relative to the client's/ patient's access to face-to-face emergency services in the client's/ patient's geographical area, in instances such as, but not necessarily limited to, the client/ patient experiencing a suicidal or homicidal crisis that is consistent with the jurisdiction's duty to protect and civil commitment statutes;

- (h) Whenever feasible, use secure communications with clients/supervisees, such as encrypted text messages via email or secure websites and obtain and document consent for the use of non-secure communications.
- (i) Discuss privacy in both the psychologist's room and the client/patient/supervisee's room and how to handle the possible presence of other people in or near the room where the participant is located.
- (j) Prior to providing telepsychology services, obtain the written informed consent of the client/ patient/supervisee, in language that is likely to be understood and consistent with accepted professional and legal requirements, relative to:
 - (i) The limitations of using distance technology in the provision of clinical, school, or applied psychological services / supervision;
 - (ii) Potential risks to confidentiality of information because of the use of distance technology;
 - (iii) Potential risks of sudden and unpredictable disruption of telepsychology services and how an alternative means of re-establishing electronic or other connection will be used under such circumstances;
 - (iv) When and how the licensee will respond to routine electronic messages;
 - (v) Under what circumstances the licensee and service recipient will use alternative means of communications under emergency circumstances;
 - (vi) Who else may have access to communications between the client/ patient and the licensee;
 - (vii) Specific methods for ensuring that a client's/ patient's electronic communications are directed only to the licensee or supervisee;
 - (viii) How the licensee stores electronic communications exchanged with the client/ patient/supervisee;
- (k) Ensure that confidential communications stored electronically cannot be recovered and/or accessed by unauthorized persons while the record is being maintained or when the licensee disposes of electronic equipment and data;
- (l) Discuss payment considerations with clients to minimize the potential for misunderstandings regarding insurance coverage and reimbursement.

(11) Documentation should clearly indicate when services are provided through telepsychology and appropriate billing codes should be used.

(12) Psychologists who offer assessment services via telepsychology are expected to have considered and addressed the following broad concerns for any and all tests used with technology:

- (a) Preservation of the acceptable psychometric properties (e.g., reliability, validity, normative reference group comparisons);
- (b) Maintenance of any expected standardization guidelines in test administration to allow prior psychometric research to remain applicable;
- (c) Adherence to scientifically accepted interpretation guidelines;
- (d) Acceptability of the evaluation environment;
- (e) Full disclosure of the unique risks to clients within a consent to evaluation process;
- (f) Anticipation and satisfactory management of technical problems that may arise;
- (g) Assurance that the examinee characteristics are adequately matched to normative reference populations;
- (h) assurance that examinee identity and associated text results are secure with respect to confidentiality.

(13) In the context of a face-to-face professional relationship, this document does not apply to:

- (a) Electronic communication used specific to appointment scheduling, billing, and/or the establishment of benefits and eligibility for services; and,
- (b) Telephone or other electronic communications made for the purpose of ensuring client/ patient welfare in accord with reasonable professional judgment.

Recommended References

The Board recommends any psychologist considering the use of telepsychology read and become familiar with the *Guidelines for the Practice of Telepsychology* and the "Practice Guidelines for Video-Based Online Mental Health Services" developed by the American Telemedicine Association (2013). Further, given the complexity associated with telepsychology, psychologists who want to offer such services will want to review other resources. The American Psychological Association (APA) has published several books (e.g., Luxton, Nelson, & Maheu, 2016), including an ethics casebook that is a companion to the APA's *Guidelines for the*

Practice of Telepsychology (Campbell, Millan, & Martin, 2018). In addition, the Ohio Psychological Association has developed a variety of resources, including a model informed consent document and a list of areas of competence for telepsychology (see <https://ohpsych.site-ym.com/page/CommunicationandTech>).

Other References

American Telemedicine Association. (2013). *Practice guidelines for video-based online mental health services*. Arlington, VA: Author. Available at https://www.integration.samhsa.gov/operations-administration/practice-guidelines-for-video-based-online-mental-health-services_ATA_5_29_13.pdf

Campbell, L. F., Millan, F., & Martin, J. N. (2018). *A telepsychology casebook: Using technology ethically and effectively in your professional practice*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Joint Task Force for the Development of Telepsychology Guidelines for Psychologists. (2013). Guidelines for the practice of telepsychology. *American Psychologist*, 68, 791-800. Available at <http://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/features/amp-a0035001.pdf>

Luxton, D. D., Nelson, E.-L., & Maheu, M. M. (2016). *A practitioner's guide to telemental health: How to conduct legal, ethical, and evidence-based telepractice*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Part II. Requirements for Licensure.

18VAC125-20-40. General requirements for licensure.

Individuals licensed in one licensure category who wish to practice in another licensure category shall submit an application for the additional licensure category in which the licensee seeks to practice.

18VAC125-20-41. Requirements for licensure by examination.

A. Every applicant for examination for licensure by the board shall:

1. Meet the education requirements prescribed in 18VAC125-20-54, 18VAC125-20-55, or 18VAC125-20-56 and the experience requirement prescribed in 18VAC125-20-65 as applicable for the particular license sought; and

2. Submit the following:

a. A completed application on forms provided by the board;

b. A completed residency agreement or documentation of having fulfilled the experience requirements of 18VAC125-20-65;

c. The application processing fee prescribed by the board;

d. Official transcripts documenting the graduate work completed and the degree awarded; transcripts previously submitted for registration of supervision do not have to be resubmitted unless additional coursework was subsequently obtained. Applicants who are graduates of institutions that are not regionally accredited shall submit documentation from an accrediting agency acceptable to the board that their education meets the requirements set forth in 18VAC125-20-54, 18VAC125-20-55 or 18VAC125-20-56; and

e. Verification of any other health or mental health professional license or certificate ever held in another jurisdiction.

B. In addition to fulfillment of the education and experience requirements, each applicant for licensure by examination must achieve a passing score on the Examination for Professional Practice of Psychology.

C. Every applicant shall attest to having read and agreed to comply with the current standards of practice and laws governing the practice of psychology in Virginia.

18VAC125-20-42. Prerequisites for licensure by endorsement.

Every applicant for licensure by endorsement shall submit:

1. A completed application;
2. The application processing fee prescribed by the board;
3. An attestation of having read and agreed to comply with the current Standards of Practice and laws governing the practice of psychology in Virginia;
4. Verification of all other health and mental health professional licenses or certificates ever held in any jurisdiction. In order to qualify for endorsement, the applicant shall not have surrendered a license or certificate while under investigation and shall have no unresolved action against a license or certificate;
5. A current report from the National Practitioner Data Bank; and
6. Further documentation of one of the following:
 - a. A current listing in the National Register of Health Service Psychologists;
 - b. Current diplomate status in good standing with the American Board of Professional Psychology in a category comparable to the one in which licensure is sought;
 - c. A Certificate of Professional Qualification in Psychology (CPQ) issued by the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards;
 - d. Ten years of active licensure in a category comparable to the one in which licensure is sought, with an appropriate degree as required in this chapter documented by an official transcript; or
 - e. If less than 10 years of active licensure, documentation of current psychologist licensure in good standing obtained by standards substantially equivalent to the education, experience and examination requirements set forth in this chapter for the category in which licensure is sought as verified by a certified copy of the original application submitted directly from the out-of-state licensing agency or a copy of the regulations in effect at the time of initial licensure and the following:
 - (1) Documentation of post-licensure active practice for at least 24 of the last sixty months immediately preceding licensure application;
 - (2) Verification of a passing score on the Examination for Professional Practice of Psychology as established in Virginia for the year of that administration; and
 - (3) Official transcripts documenting the graduate work completed and the degree awarded in the category in which licensure is sought.

18VAC125-20-43. Requirements for licensure as a school psychologist-limited.

- A. Every applicant for licensure as a school psychologist-limited shall submit to the board:

1. A copy of a current license issued by the Board of Education showing an endorsement in psychology.
2. An official transcript showing completion of a master's degree in psychology.
3. A completed Employment Verification Form of current employment by a school system under the Virginia Department of Education.
4. The application fee.

B. At the time of licensure renewal, school psychologists-limited shall be required to submit an updated Employment Verification Form if there has been a change in school district in which the licensee is currently employed.

18VAC125-20-50 to 18VAC125-20-53. [Repealed]

18VAC125-20-54. Education requirements for clinical psychologists.

A. The applicant shall hold a doctorate from a professional psychology program in a regionally accredited university, which was accredited by the APA in clinical or counseling psychology within four years after the applicant graduated from the program, or shall meet the requirements of subsection B of this section.

B. If the applicant does not hold a doctorate from an APA accredited program, the applicant shall hold a doctorate from a professional psychology program which documents that it offers education and training which prepares individuals for the practice of clinical psychology as defined in §54.1-3600 of the Code of Virginia and which meets the following criteria:

1. The program is within an institution of higher education accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the United States Department of Education or publicly recognized by the Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada as a member in good standing. Graduates of programs that are not within the United States or Canada must provide documentation from an acceptable credential evaluation service which provides information that allows the board to determine if the program meets the requirements set forth in this chapter.
2. The program shall be recognizable as an organized entity within the institution.
3. The program shall be an integrated, organized sequence of study with an identifiable psychology faculty and a psychologist directly responsible for the program, and shall have an identifiable body of students who are matriculated in that program for a degree. The faculty shall be accessible to students and provide them with guidance and supervision. The faculty shall provide appropriate professional role models and engage in actions that promote the student's acquisition of knowledge, skills and competencies consistent with the program's training goals.
4. The program shall encompass a minimum of three academic years of full-time graduate study or the equivalent thereof.

5. The program shall include a general core curriculum containing a minimum of three or more graduate semester hours or five or more graduate quarter hours in each of the following substantive content areas.

a. Biological bases of behavior (e.g., physiological psychology, comparative psychology, neuropsychology, sensation and perception, health psychology, pharmacology, neuroanatomy).

b. Cognitive-affective bases of behavior (e.g., learning theory, cognition, motivation, emotion).

c. Social bases of behavior (e.g., social psychology, group processes, organizational and systems theory, community and preventive psychology, multicultural issues).

d. Psychological measurement.

e. Research methodology.

f. Techniques of data analysis.

g. Professional standards and ethics.

6. The program shall include a minimum of at least three or more graduate semester credit hours or five or more graduate quarter hours in each of the following clinical psychology content areas:

a. Individual differences in behavior (e.g., personality theory, cultural difference and diversity).

b. Human development (e.g., child, adolescent, geriatric psychology).

c. Dysfunctional behavior, abnormal behavior or psychopathology.

d. Theories and methods of intellectual assessment and diagnosis.

e. Theories and methods of personality assessment and diagnosis including its practical application.

f. Effective interventions and evaluating the efficacy of interventions.

C. Applicants shall submit documentation of having successfully completed practicum experiences in assessment and diagnosis, psychotherapy, consultation and supervision. The practicum shall include a minimum of nine graduate semester hours or 15 or more graduate quarter hours or equivalent in appropriate settings to ensure a wide range of supervised training and educational experiences.

D. An applicant for a clinical license may fulfill the residency requirement of 1,500 hours, or some part thereof, as required for licensure in 18VAC125-20-65 B, in the pre-doctoral practicum supervised experience that meets the following standards:

1. The supervised professional experience shall be part of an organized sequence of training within the applicant's doctoral program, which meets the criteria specified in subsections A or B of this section.

2. The supervised experience shall include face-to-face direct client services, service-related activities, and supporting activities.

a. "Face-to-face direct client services" means treatment/intervention, assessment, and interviewing of clients.

b. "Service-related activities" means scoring, reporting or treatment note writing, and consultation related to face-to-face direct services.

c. "Supporting activities" means time spent under supervision of face-to-face direct services and service-related activities provided on-site or in the trainee's academic department, as well as didactic experiences, such as laboratories or seminars, directly related to such services or activities.

3. In order for pre-doctoral practicum hours to fulfill the all or part of the residency requirement, the following shall apply:

a. Not less than one-quarter of the hours shall be spent in providing face-to-face direct client services;

b. Not less than one-half of the hours shall be in a combination of face-to-face direct service hours and hours spent in service-related activities; and

c. The remainder of the hours may be spent in a combination of face-to-face direct services, service-related activities, and supporting activities.

4. A minimum of one hour of individual face-to-face supervision shall be provided for every eight hours of supervised professional experience spent in direct client contact and service-related activities.

5. Two hours of group supervision with up to five practicum students may be substituted for one hour of individual supervision. In no case shall the hours of individual supervision be less than one-half of the total hours of supervision.

6. The hours of pre-doctoral supervised experience reported by an applicant shall be certified by the program's director of clinical training on a form provided by the board.

18VAC125-20-55. Education requirements for applied psychologists.

A. The applicant shall hold a doctorate from a professional psychology program from a regionally accredited university which meets the following criteria:

1. The program is within an institution of higher education accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the United States Department of Education, or publicly recognized by the Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada as a member in good standing. Graduates of programs that are not within the United States or Canada must provide documentation from a credential evaluation service acceptable to the board which demonstrates that the program meets the requirements set forth in this chapter.

2. The program shall be recognizable as an organized entity within the institution.

3. The program shall be an integrated, organized sequence of study with an identifiable psychology faculty and a psychologist directly responsible for the program, and shall have an identifiable body of students who are matriculated in that program for a degree. The faculty shall be accessible to students and provide them with guidance and supervision. The faculty shall provide appropriate professional role models and engage in actions that promote the student's acquisition of knowledge, skills and competencies consistent with the program's training goals.

4. The program shall encompass a minimum of three academic years of full-time graduate study or the equivalent thereof.

5. The program shall include a general core curriculum containing a minimum of three or more graduate semester hours or five or more graduate quarter hours in each of the following substantive content areas.

a. Biological bases of behavior (e.g., physiological psychology, comparative psychology, neuropsychology, sensation and perception, health psychology, pharmacology, neuroanatomy).

b. Cognitive-affective bases of behavior (e.g., learning theory, cognition, motivation, emotion).

c. Social bases of behavior (e.g., social psychology, group processes, organizational and systems theory, community and preventive psychology, multicultural issues).

d. Psychological measurement.

e. Research methodology.

f. Techniques of data analysis.

g. Professional standards and ethics.

B. Demonstration of competence in applied psychology shall be met by including a minimum of at least 18 semester hours or 30 quarter hours in a concentrated program of study in an identified area of psychology, e.g., developmental, social, cognitive, motivation, applied behavioral analysis, industrial/organizational, human factors, personnel selection and evaluation, program planning and evaluation, teaching, research or consultation.

18VAC125-20-56. Education requirements for school psychologists.

A. The applicant shall hold at least a master's degree in school psychology, with a minimum of at least 60 semester credit hours or 90 quarter hours, from a college or university accredited by a regional accrediting agency, which was accredited by the APA, NCATE or NASP, or shall meet the requirements of subsection B of this section.

B. If the applicant does not hold a master's degree in school psychology from a program accredited by the APA, NCATE or NASP, the applicant shall have a master's degree from a psychology program which offers education and training to prepare individuals for the practice of school psychology as defined in §54.1-3600 of the Code of Virginia and which meets the following criteria:

1. The program is within an institution of higher education accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the United States Department of Education, or publicly recognized by the Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada as a member in good standing. Graduates of programs that are not within the United States or Canada must provide documentation from a credential evaluation service acceptable to the board which demonstrates that the program meets the requirements set forth in this chapter.

2. The program shall be recognizable as an organized entity within the institution.

3. The program shall be an integrated, organized sequence of study with an identifiable psychology faculty and a psychologist directly responsible for the program, and shall have an identifiable body of students who are matriculated in that program for a degree. The faculty shall be accessible to students and provide them with guidance and supervision. The faculty shall provide appropriate professional role models and engage in actions that promote the student's acquisition of knowledge, skills and competencies consistent with the program's training goals.

4. The program shall encompass a minimum of two academic years of full-time graduate study or the equivalent thereof.

5. The program shall include a general core curriculum containing a minimum of three or more graduate semester hours or five or more graduate quarter hours in each of the following substantive content areas.

a. Psychological foundations (e.g., biological bases of behavior, human learning, social and cultural bases of behavior, child and adolescent development, individual differences).

b. Educational foundations (e.g., instructional design, organization and operation of schools).

c. Interventions/problem-solving (e.g., assessment, direct interventions, both individual and group, indirect interventions).

d. Statistics and research methodologies (e.g., research and evaluation methods, statistics, measurement).

e. Professional school psychology (e.g., history and foundations of school psychology, legal and ethical issues, professional issues and standards, alternative models for the delivery of school psychological services, emergent technologies, roles and functions of the school psychologist).

6. The program shall be committed to practicum experiences which shall include:

a. Orientation to the educational process;

b. Assessment for intervention;

c. Direct intervention, including counseling and behavior management; and

d. Indirect intervention, including consultation.

18VAC125-20-60. [Repealed]

18VAC125-20-65. Supervised experience.

A. Internship requirement.

1. Candidates for clinical psychologist licensure shall have successfully completed an internship that is either accredited by APA, APPIC, or the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards/National Register of Health Service Psychologists, or one that meets equivalent standards.

2. Candidates for school psychologist licensure shall have successfully completed an internship accredited by the APA, APPIC or NASP or one that meets equivalent standards.

B. Residency requirement.

1. Candidates for clinical or school psychologist licensure shall have successfully completed a residency consisting of a minimum of 1,500 hours in a period of not less than 12 months and not to exceed three years of supervised experience in the delivery of clinical or school psychology services acceptable to the board, or the applicant may request approval to begin a residency

2. Supervised experience obtained in Virginia without prior written board approval will not be accepted toward licensure. Candidates shall not begin the residency until after completion of the required degree as set forth in 18VAC125-20-54 or 18VAC125-20-56. An individual who proposes to obtain supervised post-degree experience in Virginia shall, prior to the onset of such supervision, submit a supervisory contract along with the application package and pay the registration of supervision fee set forth in 18VAC125-20-30.

3. There shall be a minimum of two hours of individual supervision per week. Group supervision of up to five residents may be substituted for one of the two hours per week on the basis that two hours of group supervision equals one hour of individual supervision, but in no case shall the resident receive less than one hour of individual supervision per week.

4. Residents may not refer to or identify themselves as applied psychologists, clinical psychologists, or school psychologists; independently solicit clients; bill for services; or in any way represent themselves as licensed psychologists. Notwithstanding the above, this does not preclude supervisors or employing institutions for billing for the services of an appropriately identified resident. During the residency period they shall use their names, the initials of their degree, and the title, "Resident in Psychology," in the licensure category in which licensure is sought.

5. Supervision shall be provided by a psychologist licensed to practice in the licensure category in which the resident is seeking licensure.

6. The supervisor shall not provide supervision for activities beyond the supervisor's demonstrable areas of competence, nor for activities for which the applicant has not had appropriate education and training.

7. At the end of the residency training period, the supervisor or supervisors shall submit to the board a written evaluation of the applicant's performance.

8. The board may consider special requests in the event that the regulations create an undue burden in regard to geography or disability that limits the resident's access to qualified supervisors.

C. For a clinical psychologist license, a candidate may submit evidence of having met the supervised experience requirements in a pre-doctoral practicum as specified in 18VAC125-20-54 D in substitution for all or part of the 1,500 residency hours specified in this section. If the supervised experience hours completed in a practicum do not total 1,500 hours, a person may fulfill the remainder of the hours by meeting requirements specified in subsection B of this section.

D. Candidates for clinical psychologist licensure shall provide documentation that the internship and residency included appropriate emphasis and experience in the diagnosis and treatment of persons with moderate to severe mental disorders.

18VAC125-20-70. [Repealed]

Part III. Examinations.

18VAC125-20-80. General examination requirements.

A. An applicant for clinical or school psychologist licensure enrolled in an approved residency training program required in 18VAC125-20-65 who has met all requirements for licensure except completion of that program shall be eligible to take the national written examinations.

B. A candidate approved by the board to sit for an examination shall take that examination within two years of the date of the initial board approval. If the candidate has not taken the

examination by the end of the two-year period here prescribed, the applicant shall reapply according to the requirements of the regulations in effect at that time.

C. The board shall establish passing scores on the examination.

18VAC125-20-90 to 18VAC125-20-110. [Repealed]



Search the Town 

- [Find a Regulation](#)
- [Regulatory Activity](#)
- [Actions Underway](#)
- [Petitions](#)
- [Legislative Mandates](#)
- [Periodic Reviews](#)
- [General Notices](#)
- [Meetings](#)
- [Guidance Documents](#)
- [Comment Forums](#)

[Sign in](#)

[State Agency
Registered Public
Sign up](#)

Final Text

[highlight](#)

Action:

Result of Periodic Review

Stage: Final

2/20/20 2:55 PM

Part I

General Provisions

18VAC125-20-10. Definitions.

The following words and terms, in addition to the words and terms defined in § 54.1-3600 of the Code of Virginia, when used in this chapter shall have the following meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

"APA" means the American Psychological Association.

"APPIC" means the Association of Psychology Postdoctoral and Internship Centers.

"Board" means the Virginia Board of Psychology.

~~"Candidate for licensure" means a person who has satisfactorily completed the appropriate educational and experience requirements for licensure and has been deemed eligible by the board to sit for the required examinations.~~

"CAEP" means Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation.

"CPA" means Canadian Psychological Association.

"Demonstrable areas of competence" means those therapeutic and assessment methods and techniques, ~~and for the populations served,~~ and for which one can document adequate graduate training, workshops, or appropriate supervised experience.

"Face-to-face" means in person.

"Intern" means an individual who is enrolled in a professional psychology program internship.

"Internship" means an ongoing, supervised, and organized practical experience obtained in an integrated training program identified as a psychology internship. Other supervised experience or on-the-job training does not constitute an internship.

"NASP" means the National Association of School Psychologists.

~~"NCATE" means the National Council for the Accreditation of Teacher Education.~~

"Practicum" means the pre-internship clinical experience that is part of a graduate educational program.

"Practicum student" means an individual who is enrolled in a professional psychology program and is receiving pre-internship training and seeing clients.

"Professional psychology program" means an integrated program of doctoral study in clinical or counseling psychology or a master's degree or higher program in school psychology designed to train professional psychologists to deliver services in psychology.

"Regional accrediting agency" means one of the six regional accrediting agencies recognized by the ~~United States~~ U.S. Secretary of Education established to accredit senior institutions of higher education.

"Residency" means a post-internship, post-terminal degree, supervised experience approved by the board.

"Resident" means an individual who has received a doctoral degree in a clinical or counseling psychology program or a master's degree or higher in school psychology and is completing a board-approved residency.

"School psychologist-limited" means a person licensed pursuant to § 54.1-3606 of the Code of Virginia to provide school psychology services solely in public school divisions.

"Supervision" means the ongoing process performed by a supervisor who monitors the performance of the person supervised and provides regular, documented individual consultation, guidance, and instruction with respect to the skills and competencies of the person supervised.

"Supervisor" means an individual who assumes ~~full~~ responsibility for the education and training activities of a person under supervision and for the care of such person's clients and who provides the supervision required by such a person consistent with the training and experience of both the supervisor and the person under supervision and with the type of services being provided.

18VAC125-20-35. Change of name or address.

Licensees or registrants shall notify the board in writing within 60 days of:

1. Any legal name change; or
2. Any change of address of record or of the licensee's or registrant's public address if different from the address of record.

18VAC125-20-41. Requirements for licensure by examination.

A. Every applicant ~~for examination~~ for licensure by ~~the board~~ examination shall:

1. Meet the education requirements prescribed in 18VAC125-20-54, 18VAC125-20-55, or 18VAC125-20-56 and the experience requirement prescribed in 18VAC125-20-65 as applicable for the particular license sought; and
2. Submit the following:

- a. A completed application on forms provided by the board;
 - b. A completed residency agreement or documentation of having fulfilled the experience requirements of 18VAC125-20-65;
 - c. The application processing fee prescribed by the board;
 - d. Official transcripts documenting the graduate work completed and the degree awarded; transcripts previously submitted for registration of supervision do not have to be resubmitted unless additional coursework was subsequently obtained. Applicants who are graduates of institutions that are not regionally accredited shall submit documentation from an accrediting agency acceptable to the board that their education meets the requirements set forth in 18VAC125-20-54, 18VAC125-20-55, or 18VAC125-20-56;
 - e. A current report from the National Practitioner Data Bank; and
 - f. Verification of any other health or mental health professional license or certificate, or registration ever held in Virginia or another jurisdiction. The applicant shall not have surrendered a license, certificate, or registration while under investigation and shall have no unresolved action against a license, certificate, or registration.
- B. In addition to fulfillment of the education and experience requirements, each applicant for licensure by examination must achieve a passing score on all parts of the Examination for Professional Practice of Psychology required at the time the applicant took the examination.
- C. Every applicant shall attest to having read and agreed to comply with the current standards of practice and laws governing the practice of psychology in Virginia.

18VAC125-20-42. Prerequisites for licensure by endorsement.

Every applicant for licensure by endorsement shall submit:

- 1. A completed application;
- 2. The application processing fee prescribed by the board;
- 3. An attestation of having read and agreed to comply with the current Standards of Practice and laws governing the practice of psychology in Virginia;
- 4. Verification of all other health and mental health professional licenses or certificates, or registrations ever held in Virginia or any jurisdiction of the United States or Canada. In order to qualify for endorsement, the applicant shall not have surrendered a license or certificate, or registration while under investigation and shall have no unresolved action against a license or certificate, or registration;
- 5. A current report from the National Practitioner Data Bank; and
- 6. Further documentation of one of the following:
 - a. A current ~~listing in the~~ credential issued by the National Register of Health Service Psychologists;
 - b. Current diplomate status in good standing with the American Board of Professional Psychology in a category comparable to the one in which licensure is sought;
 - c. A Certificate of Professional Qualification in Psychology (CPQ) issued by the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards;
 - d. ~~Ten~~ Five years of active licensure in a category comparable to the one in which licensure is sought, ~~with an appropriate degree as required in this chapter documented by an official transcript with at least 24 months of active practice within the last 60 months immediately preceding licensure application;~~ or
 - e. If less than ~~40~~ five years of active licensure or less than 24 months of active practice within the last 60 months, documentation of current psychologist licensure in good standing obtained by standards substantially equivalent to the education, experience, and examination requirements set forth in this chapter for the category in which licensure is sought as verified by a certified copy of the original application submitted directly from the out-of-state licensing agency or a copy of the regulations in effect at the time of initial licensure and the

following: (1) ~~Documentation of post-licensure active practice for at least 24 of the last 60 months immediately preceding licensure application;~~ (2) Verification of a passing score on all parts of the Examination for Professional Practice of Psychology as established in Virginia for the year of that administration that were required at the time of original licensure; and

~~(3)~~ (2) Official transcripts documenting the graduate work completed and the degree awarded in the category in which licensure is sought.

18VAC125-20-54. Education requirements for clinical psychologists.

A. ~~The Beginning~~ (insert a date seven years after the effective date of this regulation), an applicant shall hold a doctorate in clinical or counseling psychology from a professional psychology program in a regionally accredited university, ~~which that~~ was accredited at the time the applicant graduated from the program by the APA in clinical or counseling psychology within four years after the applicant graduated from the program, or shall meet the requirements of subsection B of this section, CPA, or an accrediting body acceptable to the board. Graduates of programs that are not within the United States or Canada shall provide documentation from an acceptable credential evaluation service that provides information verifying that the program is substantially equivalent to an APA-accredited program.

B. ~~If the Prior to~~ (insert a date seven years after the effective date of this regulation), an applicant ~~does not shall~~ either hold a doctorate from an APA accredited program, as specified in subsection A of this section, ~~the applicant~~ or shall hold a doctorate from a professional psychology program ~~which that~~ documents that it the program offers education and training ~~which that~~ prepares individuals for the practice of clinical psychology as defined in § 54.1-3600 of the Code of Virginia and ~~which~~ meets the following criteria:

1. The program is within an institution of higher education accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the ~~United States~~ U.S. Department of Education or publicly recognized by the Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada as a member in good standing. Graduates of programs that are not within the United States or Canada must provide documentation from an acceptable credential evaluation service ~~which that~~ provides information that allows the board to determine if the program meets the requirements set forth in this chapter.

2. The program shall be recognizable as an organized entity within the institution.

3. The program shall be an integrated, organized sequence of study with an identifiable psychology faculty and a psychologist directly responsible for the program, and shall have an identifiable body of students who are matriculated in that program for a degree. The faculty shall be accessible to students and provide them with guidance and supervision. The faculty shall provide appropriate professional role models and engage in actions that promote the student's acquisition of knowledge, skills, and competencies consistent with the program's training goals.

4. The program shall encompass a minimum of three academic years of full-time graduate study or the equivalent thereof.

5. The program shall include a general core curriculum containing a minimum of three or more graduate semester hours or five or more graduate quarter hours in each of the following substantive content areas:

a. Biological bases of behavior (e.g., physiological psychology, comparative psychology, neuropsychology, sensation and perception, health psychology, pharmacology, neuroanatomy).

b. Cognitive-affective bases of behavior (e.g., learning theory, cognition, motivation, emotion).

c. Social bases of behavior (e.g., social psychology, group processes, organizational and systems theory, community and preventive psychology, multicultural issues).

d. Psychological measurement.

e. Research methodology.

f. Techniques of data analysis.

g. Professional standards and ethics.

6. The program shall include a minimum of at least three or more graduate semester credit hours or five or more graduate quarter hours in each of the following clinical psychology content areas:

- a. Individual differences in behavior (e.g., personality theory, cultural difference and diversity).
- b. Human development (e.g., child, adolescent, geriatric psychology).
- c. Dysfunctional behavior, abnormal behavior, or psychopathology.
- d. Theories and methods of intellectual assessment and diagnosis.
- e. Theories and methods of personality assessment and diagnosis including its practical application.
- f. Effective interventions and evaluating the efficacy of interventions.

C. Applicants shall submit documentation of having successfully completed practicum experiences ~~in involving assessment and diagnosis, psychotherapy, consultation and supervision~~ psychological interventions. The practicum experiences shall include a minimum of nine graduate semester hours or 15 or more graduate quarter hours or equivalent in appropriate settings to ensure a wide range of supervised training and educational experiences.

D. An applicant shall graduate from an educational program in clinical psychology that includes an appropriate emphasis on and experience in the diagnosis and treatment of persons with moderate to severe mental disorders.

E. Candidates for clinical psychologist licensure shall have successfully completed an internship in a program that is either accredited by APA or CPA, or is a member of APPIC, or the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards/National Register of Health Service Psychologists, or one that meets equivalent standards. If the internship was obtained in an educational program outside of the United States or Canada, a credentialing service approved by the board shall verify equivalency to an internship in an APA-accredited program.

~~D. F.~~ An applicant for a clinical license may fulfill the residency requirement of 1,500 hours, or some part thereof, as required for licensure in 18VAC125-20-65 ~~B~~, in the ~~pre-doctoral~~ doctoral practicum supervised experience, which occurs prior to the internship, and that meets the following standards:

1. The supervised professional experience shall be part of an organized sequence of training within the applicant's doctoral program, ~~which that~~ that meets the criteria specified in ~~subsection A or B~~ of this section.
2. The supervised experience shall include face-to-face direct client services, service-related activities, and supporting activities.
 - a. "Face-to-face direct client services" means ~~treatment/intervention~~ treatment or intervention, assessment, and interviewing of clients.
 - b. "Service-related activities" means scoring, reporting or treatment note writing, and consultation related to face-to-face direct services.
 - c. "Supporting activities" means time spent under supervision of face-to-face direct services and service-related activities provided ~~on-site~~ onsite or in the trainee's academic department, as well as didactic experiences, such as laboratories or seminars, directly related to such services or activities.
3. In order for pre-doctoral practicum hours to fulfill all or part of the residency requirement, the following shall apply:
 - a. Not less than one-quarter of the hours shall be spent in providing face-to-face direct client services;
 - b. Not less than one-half of the hours shall be in a combination of face-to-face direct service hours and hours spent in service-related activities; and
 - c. The remainder of the hours may be spent in a combination of face-to-face direct services, service-related activities, and supporting activities.

4. A minimum of one hour of individual face-to-face supervision shall be provided for every eight hours of supervised professional experience spent in direct client contact and service-related activities.
5. Two hours of group supervision with up to five practicum students may be substituted for one hour of individual supervision. In no case shall the hours of individual supervision be less than one-half of the total hours of supervision.
6. The hours of pre-doctoral supervised experience reported by an applicant shall be certified by the program's director of clinical training on a form provided by the board.
7. If the supervised experience hours completed in a series of practicum experiences do not total 1,500 hours or if a candidate is deficient in any of the categories of hours, a candidate shall fulfill the remainder of the hours by meeting requirements specified in 18VAC125-20-65.

18VAC125-20-55. Education requirements for applied psychologists.

A. The applicant shall hold a doctorate from a professional psychology program from a regionally accredited university ~~which that~~ meets the following criteria:

1. The program is within an institution of higher education accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the ~~United States~~ U.S. Department of Education, or publicly recognized by the Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada as a member in good standing. Graduates of programs that are not within the United States or Canada must provide documentation from a credential evaluation service acceptable to the board ~~which that~~ demonstrates that the program meets the requirements set forth in this chapter.
2. The program shall be recognizable as an organized entity within the institution.
3. The program shall be an integrated, organized sequence of study with an identifiable psychology faculty and a psychologist directly responsible for the program, and shall have an identifiable body of students who are matriculated in that program for a degree. The faculty shall be accessible to students and provide them with guidance and supervision. The faculty shall provide appropriate professional role models and engage in actions that promote the student's acquisition of knowledge, skills, and competencies consistent with the program's training goals.
4. The program shall encompass a minimum of three academic years of full-time graduate study or the equivalent thereof.
5. The program shall include a general core curriculum containing a minimum of three or more graduate semester hours or five or more graduate quarter hours in each of the following substantive content areas:
 - a. Biological bases of behavior (e.g., physiological psychology, comparative psychology, neuropsychology, sensation and perception, health psychology, pharmacology, neuroanatomy).
 - b. Cognitive-affective bases of behavior (e.g., learning theory, cognition, motivation, emotion).
 - c. Social bases of behavior (e.g., social psychology, group processes, organizational and systems theory, community and preventive psychology, multicultural issues).
 - d. Psychological measurement.
 - e. Research methodology.
 - f. Techniques of data analysis.
 - g. Professional standards and ethics.

B. Demonstration of competence in applied psychology shall be met by including a minimum of at least 18 semester hours or 30 quarter hours in a concentrated program of study in an identified area of psychology, ~~e.g.~~ for example, developmental, social, cognitive, motivation, applied behavioral analysis, industrial/organizational, human factors, personnel selection and evaluation, program planning and evaluation, teaching, research or consultation.

18VAC125-20-56. Education requirements for school psychologists.

A. The applicant shall hold at least a master's degree in school psychology, with a minimum of at least 60 semester credit hours or 90 quarter hours, from a college or university accredited by a regional accrediting agency, which was accredited by the APA, ~~NCATE~~ or CAEP or was approved by NASP, or shall meet the requirements of subsection B of this section.

B. If the applicant does not hold a master's degree in school psychology from a program accredited by the APA, ~~NCATE~~ or CAEP or approved by NASP, the applicant shall have a master's degree from a psychology program ~~which that~~ offers education and training to prepare individuals for the practice of school psychology as defined in § 54.1-3600 of the Code of Virginia and ~~which that~~ meets the following criteria:

1. The program is within an institution of higher education accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the ~~United States~~ U.S. Department of Education, or publicly recognized by the Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada as a member in good standing. Graduates of programs that are not within the United States or Canada must provide documentation from a credential evaluation service acceptable to the board ~~which that~~ demonstrates that the program meets the requirements set forth in this chapter.

2. The program shall be recognizable as an organized entity within the institution.

3. The program shall be an integrated, organized sequence of study with an identifiable psychology faculty and a psychologist directly responsible for the program, and shall have an identifiable body of students who are matriculated in that program for a degree. The faculty shall be accessible to students and provide them with guidance and supervision. The faculty shall provide appropriate professional role models and engage in actions that promote the student's acquisition of knowledge, skills, and competencies consistent with the program's training goals.

4. The program shall encompass a minimum of two academic years of full-time graduate study or the equivalent thereof.

5. The program shall include a general core curriculum containing a minimum of three or more graduate semester hours or five or more graduate quarter hours in each of the following substantive content areas:

a. Psychological foundations (e.g., biological bases of behavior, human learning, social and cultural bases of behavior, child and adolescent development, individual differences).

b. Educational foundations (e.g., instructional design, organization and operation of schools).

c. Interventions/problem-solving (e.g., assessment, direct interventions, both individual and group, indirect interventions).

d. Statistics and research methodologies (e.g., research and evaluation methods, statistics, measurement).

e. Professional school psychology (e.g., history and foundations of school psychology, legal and ethical issues, professional issues and standards, alternative models for the delivery of school psychological services, emergent technologies, roles and functions of the school psychologist).

6. The program shall be committed to practicum experiences ~~which that~~ shall include:

a. Orientation to the educational process;

b. Assessment for intervention;

c. Direct intervention, including counseling and behavior management; and

d. Indirect intervention, including consultation.

C. Candidates for school psychologist licensure shall have successfully completed an internship in a program accredited by APA or CAEP, or approved by NASP, or is a member of APPIC or one that meets equivalent standards.

18VAC125-20-65. Supervised experience Residency.

A. Internship requirement.

~~1. Candidates for clinical psychologist licensure shall have successfully completed an internship that is either accredited by APA, APPIC, or the Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards/National Register of Health Service Psychologists, or one that meets equivalent standards.~~

~~2. Candidates for school psychologist licensure shall have successfully completed an internship accredited by the APA, APPIC, or NASP.~~

A. Candidates for clinical or school psychologist licensure shall have successfully completed a residency consisting of a minimum of 1,500 hours of supervised experience in the delivery of clinical or school psychology services acceptable to the board.

1. For clinical psychology candidates, the hours of supervised practicum experiences in a doctoral program may be counted toward the residency hours, as specified in 18VAC125-20-54. Hours acquired during the required internship shall not be counted toward the 1,500 residency hours. If the supervised experience hours completed in a practicum do not total 1,500 hours or if a candidate is deficient in any of the categories of hours, a candidate may fulfill the remainder of the hours by meeting requirements specified in subsection B of this section.

2. School psychologist candidates shall complete all the residency requirements after receipt of their final school psychology degree.

B. Residency requirement requirements.

1. Candidates for clinical or school psychologist licensure shall have successfully completed a residency consisting of a minimum of 1,500 hours in a period of not less than 12 months and not to exceed three years of supervised experience in the delivery of clinical or school psychology services acceptable to the board, or the applicant may request approval to ~~begin~~ extend a residency if there were extenuating circumstances that precluded completion within three years.

2. Supervised experience obtained in Virginia without prior written board approval will not be accepted toward licensure. Candidates shall not begin the residency until after completion of the required degree as set forth in 18VAC125-20-54 or 18VAC125-20-56.

~~An~~ 3. In order to have the residency accepted for licensure, an individual who proposes to obtain supervised post-degree experience in Virginia shall; register with the board prior to the onset of such supervision; submit by submission of:

~~a~~ a. A supervisory contract along with the application package; and pay

~~the~~ b. The registration of supervision fee set forth in 18VAC125-20-30; and

c. An official transcript documenting completion of educational requirements as set forth in 18VAC125-20-54 or 18VAC125-20-56 as applicable.

4. If board approval was required for supervised experience obtained in another United States jurisdiction or Canada in which residency hours were obtained, a candidate shall provide evidence of board approval from such jurisdiction.

~~3.~~ 5. There shall be a minimum of two hours of individual supervision per week 40 hours of supervised experience. Group supervision of up to five residents may be substituted for one of the two hours ~~per week~~ on the basis that two hours of group supervision equals one hour of individual supervision, but in no case shall the resident receive less than one hour of individual supervision per ~~week~~ 40 hours.

~~4. Residents may not refer to or identify themselves as applied psychologists, clinical psychologists, or school psychologists; independently solicit clients; bill for services; or in any way represent themselves as licensed psychologists. Notwithstanding the above, this does not preclude supervisors or employing institutions for billing for the services of an appropriately identified resident. During the residency period they shall use their names, the initials of their degree, and the title, "Resident in Psychology," in the licensure category in which licensure is sought.~~

~~5- 6.~~ Supervision shall be provided by a psychologist who holds a current, unrestricted license in the jurisdiction in which supervision is being provided and who is licensed to practice in the licensure category in which the resident is seeking licensure.

~~6- 7.~~ The supervisor shall not provide supervision for activities beyond the supervisor's demonstrable areas of competence, nor for activities for which the applicant has not had appropriate education and training.

~~7- 8.~~ The supervising psychologist shall maintain records of supervision performed and shall regularly review and co-sign case notes written by the supervised resident during the residency period. At the end of the residency training period, the supervisor ~~or supervisors~~ shall submit to the board a written evaluation of the applicant's performance.

~~8- 9.~~ The board may consider special requests in the event that the regulations create an undue burden in regard to geography or disability that limits the resident's access to qualified supervisors.

~~C.~~ For a clinical psychologist license, a candidate may submit evidence of having met the supervised experience requirements in a pre-doctoral doctoral practicum as specified in 18VAC125-20-54 D in substitution for all or part of the 1,500 residency hours specified in this section. If the supervised experience hours completed in a practicum do not total 1,500 hours, a person may fulfill the remainder of the hours by meeting requirements specified in subsection B of this section.

~~D.~~ Candidates for clinical psychologist licensure shall provide documentation that the internship and residency included appropriate emphasis and experience in the diagnosis and treatment of persons with moderate to severe mental disorders.

C. Residents shall not refer to or identify themselves as clinical psychologists or school psychologists, independently solicit clients, bill directly for services, or in any way represent themselves as licensed psychologists. Notwithstanding, this does not preclude supervisors or employing institutions from billing for the services of an appropriately identified resident. During the residency period, residents shall use their names, the initials of their degree, and the title "Resident in Psychology" in the licensure category in which licensure is sought.

Part III Examinations

18VAC125-20-80. General examination requirements.

~~A.~~ An applicant for clinical or school psychologist licensure enrolled in an approved residency training program required in 18VAC125-20-65 who has met all requirements for licensure except completion of that program shall be eligible to take the national written examination. ~~B.~~ A candidate approved by the board to sit for an examination shall take that achieve a passing score on the final step of the national examination within two years of the date of the initial board approval immediately preceding licensure. A candidate may request an extension of the two-year limitation for extenuating circumstances. If the candidate has not taken the examination by the end of the two-year period ~~here prescribed~~, the applicant shall reapply according to the requirements of the regulations in effect at that time.

~~C- B.~~ The board shall establish passing scores on all steps of the examination.

Part V Licensure Renewal; Reinstatement

18VAC125-20-120. Annual renewal of licensure.

Every license issued by the board shall expire each year on June 30.

1. Every licensee who intends to continue to practice shall, on or before the expiration date of the license, submit to the board a license renewal form supplied by the board and the renewal fee prescribed in 18VAC125-20-30.

2. Licensees who wish to maintain an active license shall pay the appropriate fee and verify on the renewal form compliance with the continuing education requirements prescribed in 18VAC125-20-121. First-time

licensees by examination are not required to verify continuing education on the first renewal date following initial licensure.

3. A licensee who wishes to place his license in inactive status may do so upon payment of the fee prescribed in 18VAC125-20-30. ~~No~~ A person with an inactive license is not authorized to practice; no person shall practice psychology in Virginia unless he holds without a current active license. An inactive licensee may activate his a license by fulfilling the reactivation requirements set forth in 18VAC125-20-130.

4. ~~Licensees shall notify the board office in writing of any change of address of record or of the public address, if different from the address of record.~~ Failure of a licensee to receive a renewal notice and application forms from the board shall not excuse the licensee from the renewal requirement.

18VAC125-20-121. Continuing education course requirements for renewal of an active license.

A. Licensees shall be required to ~~have completed~~ complete a minimum of 14 hours of board-approved continuing education courses each year for annual licensure renewal. A minimum of 1.5 of these hours shall be in courses that emphasize the ethics, laws, and regulations governing the profession of psychology, including the standards of practice set out in 18VAC125-20-150. A licensee who completes continuing education hours in excess of the 14 hours may carry up to seven hours of continuing education credit forward to meet the requirements for the next annual renewal cycle.

B. For the purpose of this section, "course" means an organized program of study, classroom experience, or similar educational experience that is directly related to the practice of psychology and is provided by a board-approved provider that meets the criteria specified in 18VAC125-20-122.

1. At least six of the required hours shall be earned in face-to-face or real-time interactive educational experiences. Real-time interactive shall include a course in which the learner has the opportunity to interact with the presenter ~~and participants~~ during the time of the presentation.

2. The board may approve up to four hours per renewal cycle for each of the following specific educational experiences ~~to include~~:

a. Preparation for and presentation of a continuing education program, seminar, workshop, or academic course offered by an approved provider and directly related to the practice of psychology. Hours may only be credited one time, regardless of the number of times the presentation is given, and may not be credited toward the face-to-face requirement.

b. Publication of an article or book in a recognized publication directly related to the practice of psychology. Hours may only be credited one time, regardless of the number of times the writing is published, and may not be credited toward the face-to-face requirement.

c. Serving at least six months as editor or associate editor of a national or international, professional, peer-reviewed journal directly related to the practice of psychology.

3. Ten hours will be accepted for one or more three-credit-hour academic courses completed at a regionally accredited institution of higher education that are directly related to the practice of psychology.

4. The board may approve up to two hours per renewal cycle for membership on a state licensing board in psychology.

C. Courses must be directly related to the scope of practice in the category of licensure held. Continuing education courses for clinical psychologists shall emphasize, but not be limited to, the diagnosis, treatment, and care of patients with moderate and severe mental disorders.

D. The board may grant an extension for good cause of up to one year for the completion of continuing education requirements upon written request from the licensee prior to the renewal date. Such extension shall not relieve the licensee of the continuing education requirement.

E. The board may grant an exemption for all or part of the continuing education requirements for one renewal cycle due to circumstances determined by the board to be beyond the control of the licensee.

F. Up to two of the 14 continuing education hours required for renewal may be satisfied through delivery of psychological services, without compensation, to low-income individuals receiving mental health services through a local health department or a free clinic organized in whole or primarily for the delivery of those health services as verified by the department or clinic. Three hours of volunteer service is required for one hour of continuing education credit.

18VAC125-20-122. Continuing education providers.

A. The following organizations, associations, or institutions are approved by the board to provide continuing education:

1. Any psychological association recognized by the profession or providers approved by such an association.
2. Any association or organization of mental health, health, or psychoeducational providers recognized by the profession or providers approved by such an association or organization.
3. ~~Any association or organization providing courses related to forensic psychology recognized by the profession or providers approved by such an association or organization.~~ 4. Any regionally accredited institution of higher learning. ~~A maximum of 14 hours will be accepted for each academic course directly related to the practice of psychology.~~
5. ~~4.~~ Any governmental agency or facility that offers mental health, health, or psychoeducational services.
6. ~~5.~~ Any licensed hospital or facility that offers mental health, health, or psychoeducational services.
7. ~~6.~~ Any association or organization that has been approved as a continuing ~~competency~~ education provider by a psychology board in another state or jurisdiction.

B. Continuing education providers approved under subsection A of this section shall:

1. Maintain documentation of the course titles and objectives and of licensee attendance and completion of courses for a period of four years.
2. Monitor attendance at classroom or similar face-to-face educational experiences.
3. Provide a certificate of completion for licensees who successfully complete a course. The certificate shall indicate the number of continuing education hours for the course and shall indicate hours that may be designated as ethics, laws, or regulations governing the profession, if any.

18VAC125-20-130. Late renewal; reinstatement; reactivation.

A. A person whose license has expired may renew it within one year after its expiration date by paying the ~~penalty~~ late fee prescribed in 18VAC125-20-30 and the license renewal fee for the year the license was not renewed and by completing the continuing education requirements specified in 18VAC125-20-121 for that year.

B. A person whose license has not been renewed for one year or more and who wishes to resume practice shall:

1. Present evidence to the board of having met all applicable continuing education requirements equal to the number of years the license has ~~lapsed~~ been expired, not to exceed four years;
2. Pay the reinstatement fee as prescribed in 18VAC125-20-30; and
3. Submit verification of any professional certification or licensure obtained in any other jurisdiction subsequent to the initial application for licensure.

C. A psychologist wishing to reactivate an inactive license shall submit the renewal fee for active licensure minus any fee already paid for inactive licensure renewal, and document completion of continued ~~competency~~ education hours equal to the number of years the license has been inactive, not to exceed four years.

Part VI

Standards of Practice; Unprofessional Conduct; Disciplinary Actions; Reinstatement

18VAC125-20-150. Standards of practice.

A. The protection of the public health, safety, and welfare and the best interest of the public shall be the primary guide in determining the appropriate professional conduct of all persons whose activities are regulated by the board. Psychologists respect the rights, dignity, and worth of all people, and are mindful of individual differences. Regardless of the delivery method, whether face-to-face or by use of technology, these standards shall apply to the practice of psychology.

B. Persons ~~licensed~~ regulated by the board shall:

1. Provide and supervise only those services and use only those techniques for which they are qualified by education, training, and appropriate experience;

~~2. Delegate to their employees, supervisees, residents and research assistants~~ persons under their supervision only those responsibilities such persons can be expected to perform competently by education, training, and experience. ~~Take ongoing steps to maintain competence in the skills they use;~~

~~2. When making public statements regarding~~ 3. Maintain current competency in the areas of practices through continuing education, consultation, or other procedures consistent with current standards of scientific and professional knowledge;

4. Accurately represent their areas of competence, education, training, experience, professional affiliations, credentials, and published findings, directory listings, curriculum vitae, etc., to ensure that such statements are neither fraudulent nor misleading;

~~3- 5.~~ Neither accept nor give commissions, rebates, or other forms of remuneration for referral of clients for professional services. Make appropriate consultations and referrals consistent with the law and based on the interest of patients or clients;

~~4- 6.~~ Refrain from undertaking any activity in which their personal problems are likely to lead to inadequate or harmful services;

~~5- 7.~~ Avoid harming, exploiting, misusing influence, or misleading patients or clients, research participants, students, and others for whom they provide professional services and minimize harm when it is foreseeable and unavoidable. Not exploit or mislead people for whom they provide professional services. Be alert to and guard against misuse of influence;

~~6. Avoid dual relationships with patients, clients, residents or supervisees that could impair professional judgment or compromise their well-being (to include but not limited to treatment of close friends, relatives, employees);~~

8. Not engage in, direct, or facilitate torture, which is defined as any act by which severe pain or suffering, whether physical or mental, is intentionally inflicted on a person, or in any other cruel, inhuman, or degrading behavior that causes harm;

~~7- 9.~~ Withdraw from, avoid, adjust, or clarify conflicting roles with due regard for the best interest of the affected party or parties and maximal compliance with these standards;

~~8. Not engage in sexual intimacies or a romantic relationship with a student, supervisee, resident, therapy patient, client, or those included in collateral therapeutic services (such as a parent, spouse, or significant other) while providing professional services. For at least five years after cessation or termination of professional services, not engage in sexual intimacies or a romantic relationship with a therapy patient, client, or those included in collateral therapeutic services. Consent to, initiation of, or participation in sexual behavior or romantic involvement with a psychologist does not change the exploitative nature of the conduct nor lift the prohibition. Since sexual or romantic relationships are potentially exploitative, psychologists shall bear the burden of demonstrating that there has been no exploitation;~~

~~9. Keep confidential their professional relationships with patients or clients and disclose client records to others only with written consent except: (i) when a patient or client is a danger to self or others, (ii) as required under § 32.1-127.1:03 of the Code of Virginia, or (iii) as permitted by law for a valid purpose;~~

~~10. Make reasonable efforts to arrangements for another professional to deal with emergency needs of clients during periods of foreseeable absences from professional availability and provide for continuity of care when services must be interrupted or terminated;~~

11. Conduct financial responsibilities to clients in an ethical and honest manner by:

~~Inform a. Informing clients of fees for professional services, fees, and billing arrangements and limits of confidentiality before rendering services. as soon as is feasible;~~

~~Inform the consumer b. Informing clients~~ prior to the use of collection agencies or legal measures to collect fees and provide opportunity for prompt payment;

c. Obtaining written consent for fees that deviate from the practitioner's usual and customary fees for services;

~~Avoid bartering goods and services.~~

~~Participate~~ d. Participating in bartering only if it is not clinically contraindicated and is not exploitative; and

e. Not obtaining, attempting to obtain, or cooperating with others in obtaining payment for services by misrepresenting services provided, dates of service, or status of treatment.

12. Be able to justify all services rendered to clients as necessary for diagnostic or therapeutic purposes;

~~12- 13.~~ Construct, maintain, administer, interpret, and report testing and diagnostic services in a manner and for purposes ~~which~~ that are current and appropriate;

~~13. Keep pertinent, confidential records for at least five years after termination of services to any consumer;~~

14. Design, conduct, and report research in accordance with recognized standards of scientific competence and research ethics. Practitioners shall adhere to requirements of § 32.1-162.18 of the Code of Virginia for obtaining informed consent from patients prior to involving them as participants in human research, with the exception of retrospective chart reviews; and

15. Report to the board known or suspected violations of the laws and regulations governing the practice of psychology;

16. Accurately inform a client or a client's legally authorized representative of the client's diagnoses, prognosis, and intended treatment or plan of care. A psychologist shall present information about the risks and benefits of [and alternatives to] the recommended treatments in understandable terms and encourage participation in the decisions regarding the patient's care [. When obtaining informed consent for treatment for which generally recognized techniques and procedures have not been established, a psychologist shall inform clients of the developing nature of the treatment, the potential risks involved, alternative treatments that may be available, and the voluntary nature of their participation] ;

17. Clearly document at the outset of service delivery what party the psychologist considers to be the client and what, if any, responsibilities the psychologist has to all related parties;

18. Determine whether a client is receiving services from another mental health service provider, and if so, document efforts to coordinate care; and

19. Document the reasons for and steps taken if it becomes necessary to terminate a therapeutic relationship (e.g., when it becomes clear that the client is not benefiting from the relationship or when the psychologist feels endangered). Document assistance provided in making arrangements for the continuation of treatment for clients, if necessary, following termination of a therapeutic relationship.

C. In regard to confidentiality, persons regulated by the board shall:

1. Keep confidential their professional relationships with patients or clients and disclose client information to others only with written consent except as required or permitted by law. Psychologists shall inform clients of legal limits to confidentiality;

2. Protect the confidentiality in the usage of client information and clinical materials by obtaining informed consent from the client or the client's legally authorized representative before (i) videotaping, (ii) audio

recording, (iii) permitting third party observation, or (iv) using clinical information in teaching, writing, or public presentations; and

3. Not willfully or negligently breach the confidentiality between a practitioner and a client. A disclosure that is required or permitted by applicable law or beyond the control of the practitioner shall not be considered negligent or willful.

D. In regard to client records, persons regulated by the board shall:

1. Maintain timely, accurate, legible, and complete written or electronic records for each client [that includes For a psychologist practicing in an institutional setting, the record-keeping shall follow the policies of the institution or public facility. For a psychologist practicing in a non-institutional setting, the record shall include] :

a. The name of the client and other identifying information;

b. The presenting problem, purpose, or diagnosis;

c. Documentation of the fee arrangement;

d. The date and clinical summary of each service provided;

e. Any test results, including raw data, or other evaluative results obtained;

f. Notation and results of formal consults with other providers; and

g. Any releases by the client;

2. Maintain client records securely, inform all employees of the requirements of confidentiality and dispose of written, electronic, and other records in such a manner as to ensure their confidentiality; and

3. Maintain client records for a minimum of five years or as otherwise required by law from the last date of service, with the following exceptions:

a. At minimum, records of a minor child shall be maintained for five years after attaining 18 years of age;

b. Records that are required by contractual obligation or federal law to be maintained for a longer period of time; or

c. Records that have been transferred pursuant to § 54.1-2405 of the Code of Virginia pertaining to closure, sale, or change of location of one's practice.

E. In regard to dual relationships, persons regulated by the board shall:

1. Not engage in a dual relationship with a person under supervision that could impair professional judgment or increase the risk of exploitation or harm. Psychologists shall take appropriate professional precautions when a dual relationship cannot be avoided, such as informed consent, consultation, supervision, and documentation to ensure that judgment is not impaired and no exploitation occurs;

2. Not engage in sexual intimacies or a romantic relationship with a student, supervisee, resident, intern, therapy patient, client, or those included in collateral therapeutic services (such as a parent, spouse, or significant other of the client) while providing professional services. For at least five years after cessation or termination of professional services, not engage in sexual intimacies or a romantic relationship with a therapy patient, client, or those included in collateral therapeutic services. Consent to, initiation of, or participation in sexual behavior or romantic involvement with a psychologist does not change the exploitative nature of the conduct nor lift the prohibition. Because sexual or romantic relationships are potentially exploitative, psychologists shall bear the burden of demonstrating that there has been no exploitation, based on factors such as duration of therapy, amount of time since therapy, termination circumstances, client's personal history and mental status, and adverse impact on the client;

3. Not engage in a personal relationship with a former client in which there is a risk of exploitation or potential harm or if the former client continues to relate to the psychologist in his professional capacity; and

4. Recognize conflicts of interest and inform all parties of the nature and directions of loyalties and responsibilities involved.

F. Upon learning of evidence that indicates a reasonable probability that another mental health provider is or may be guilty of a violation of standards of conduct as defined in statute or regulation, persons licensed by the board shall advise their clients of their right to report such misconduct to the Department of Health Professions in accordance with § 54.1-2400.4 of the Code of Virginia.

18VAC125-20-160. Grounds for disciplinary action or denial of licensure.

The board may take disciplinary action or deny a license or registration for any of the following causes:

1. Conviction of a felony, or a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude (i.e., relating to lying, cheating, or stealing);
2. Procuring ~~of~~ or attempting to procure or maintaining a license or registration by fraud or misrepresentation;
3. ~~Misuse of drugs or alcohol to the extent that it interferes with professional functioning~~ Conducting practice in such a manner so as to make it a danger to the health and welfare of clients or to the public;
4. ~~Negligence in professional conduct or violation of practice standards including but not limited to this chapter~~ Engaging in intentional or negligent conduct that causes or is likely to cause injury to a client;
5. Performing functions outside areas of competency;
6. ~~Mental, emotional, or physical incompetence to practice the profession~~ Demonstrating an inability to practice psychology with reasonable skill and safety to clients by reason of illness or substance misuse, or as a result of any mental, emotional, or physical condition;
7. ~~Failure~~ Failing to comply with the ~~continued competency~~ continuing education requirements set forth in this chapter; or
8. Violating or aiding and abetting another to violate any statute applicable to the practice of the profession ~~regulated or any provision of this chapter.~~, including § 32.1-127.1:03 of the Code of Virginia relating to health records;
9. Knowingly allowing persons under supervision to jeopardize client safety or provide care to clients outside of such person's scope of practice or area of responsibility;
10. Performing an act or making statements that are likely to deceive, defraud, or harm the public;
11. Having [~~an~~ a disciplinary] action taken against a health or mental health license, certification, registration, or application in Virginia or other jurisdiction [or surrendering such a license, certification or registration in lieu of disciplinary action] ;
12. Failing to cooperate with an employee of the Department of Health Professions in the conduct of an investigation;
13. Failing to report evidence of child abuse or neglect as required in § 63.2-1509 of the Code of Virginia, or abuse of aged and incapacitated adults as required in § 63.2-1606 of the Code of Virginia; or
14. Violating any provisions of this chapter, including practice standards set forth in 18VAC125-20-150.